
Children and Young People Committee 
 

Meeting Venue: 
Committee Room 1 - Senedd 

 

 

 

Meeting date: 
26 September 2013  

 

Meeting time: 
09:15 

 

For further information please contact:  
Bethan Davies 
Committee Clerk 
02920 898120 
CYPCommittee@wales.gov.uk  
 

 

Agenda 
 

Private Pre-meeting - 09.15 - 09.30 

1 Introductions, apologies and substitutions   

2 Education (Wales) Bill: Stage 1 - Evidence session UNISON and 
GMB (09.30 - 10.15) (Pages 1 - 45)  
CYP(4)-23-13 - Paper 1 - UNISON 
CYP(4)-23-13 - Paper 2 - GMB 
 
Jessica Cromie, UNISON Wales Schools Lead  
Martin Hird -  Senior Organiser responsible for Public Services – South Wales and 
South West Region 
 

  

3 Education (Wales) Bill: Stage 1 - Evidence session NUT, NASUWT 
and UCAC (10.15 - 11.15) (Pages 46 - 106)  
CYP(4)-23-13 - Paper 3 - NUT Cymru  
CYP(4)-23-13 - Paper 4 - NASUWT 
CYP(4)-23-13 - Paper 5 - UCAC 
 
Owen Hathway, Wales Policy Officer, NUT Cymru 
Rex Phillips, NASUWT Wales Organiser 
Rebecca Williams, UCAC Policy Officer 
  

Public Document Pack



4 Education (Wales) Bill: Stage 1 - Evidence Session ADEW and 
WLGA (11.15 - 12.00) (Pages 107 - 114)  
CYP(4)-23-13 - Paper 6 - WLGA and ADEW 
 
Dr Chris Llewelyn, Director Lifelong Learning, WLGA 
Daisy Seabourne, Lifelong Learning Policy Manager, WLGA 
TBC, Education Director,  ADEW 
 
 
 
 
  

5 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 
public from the meeting for the following business:    
Item 6  

6 Committee Forward Work Programme (12.00 - 12.20)  



Agenda Item 2

Page 1

Document is Restricted



Paper 1 
 
National Assembly for Wales 
 

Children and Young People Committee 
 
Education (Wales) Bill : Stage 1 
 
Response from : UNISON Cymru Wales 

UNISON welcomes the opportunity to comment on the Education (Wales) Bill, on 
behalf of support staff.  Support staff are a vital group of workers, who are often 
overlooked when opinions about education are invited. 
 
UNISON is the largest education union in the UK with 350,000 members working in 
schools, early years, further and higher education.  We have 245,000 members 
working in schools across the UK, around 18,000 of whom work in Wales.  In some 
areas, support staff make up over 50% of the school team.  

1. Background and General Principles of the Bill  

UNISON welcomes an increased focus on support staff in the Bill.  It reflects the 
recognition of the vital role that support staff can play in freeing up teachers to do their 
job, providing pastoral care and helping them improve their attainment. 

In June 2012 UNISON met the then Minister for Education and Skills, Leighton 
Andrews AM to discuss support staff issues.  Subsequently in September 2012, 
UNISON produced a report based on issues raised at the meeting, which was 
endorsed by and submitted in the name of the NJC unions of the Trade Union Side of 
the Joint Council for Wales.  That report raised issues around registration that we 
expand on below.   
 
Earlier this year UNISON also submitted evidence to the government consultation: ‘The 
Future Delivery of Education Services in Wales’ - the so-called Hill Review.  (See 
appendix A).  Since submitting that evidence we have found further evidence: a 
systematic academic review of the literature on the impact of Teaching Assistants on 
attainment by the Inclusion Review Group at Manchester University.  This found that 
academic achievements of primary aged pupils with identified difficulties in learning, 
typically in literacy, improved significantly following a period of targeted intervention 
from TAs (Farrell et. al, 2010, The impact of teaching assistants on improving pupils’ 
academic achievement in mainstream schools: a review of the literature). 
 
We are mystified as to why the final report of the Hill Review failed to address the role 
of support staff.  We see this as a serious weakness of the Review and hope that the 
new Minister for Education and Skills will take a wider view, when he comes to 
implementing it. 
 
 

 

 

 

CYP(4)-23-13 - Paper 1

Page 35



2. Specifics of the Bill 
 
2.1 Education Workforce Council – registration and regulation 
 
UNISON has been involved with a number of groups of workers facing regulation and 
we have learned that how changes are handled has an enormous impact on how 
smoothly the transition goes.  It is vital to involve interested parties in the process, 
ensure adequate time to put procedures into place before a register starts and set 
aside adequate resources for it to work.  There is also a danger that regulatory bodies 
can become over-bureaucratic, self serving and distanced from the public they are 
supposed to protect and the staff they are overseeing.   
 
2.1.1 The definition of School Learning Support Workers will need to be clear to ensure 
that the right jobs are covered.  In schools, where the employment of support staff is 
locally determined, job titles may not necessarily reflect the content of the job.  Also 
many jobs are hybrid and some staff may have split contracts covering a range of jobs 
– some which might be covered by the title ‘Schools Learning Support Workers’ and 
some not.    
 
2.1.2 UNISON would suggest that there is a need to standardise titles across Wales. 
We propose that the Wales Government work with local authorities and schools to 
implement the new NJC schools support staff job profiles.  These would ensure 
consistency across the country and put in place the basis for improvements in 
professionalism. 
 
2.1.3 The Explanatory Memorandum to the Bill states that advantages of registration 
include enhancement of training and development, and the maintenance of 
professional standards to retain public confidence.  To achieve this there would need to 
be a set of nationally agreed professional standards established, induction programme 
and processes on assessment and conduct, similar to that for teachers.  This is a 
significant amount of work that will take time and needs to be in place before a register 
is put in place.  This will also cost and resources should be set aside both nationally to 
set this up, but also at school level to ensure that CPD actually takes place.  Currently 
support staff receive a fraction of the training and development of teachers, so there 
should be a requirement that all staff are guaranteed time and resources to complete 
their CPD, so as to be able to meet the professional standards set by the EWC.  
 
2.1.4 We would hope that UNISON as the lead union for support staff is involved in 
the production of relevant EWC policies and standards.  We do not believe that simply 
changing wording on current documents to include new groups will be adequate.  A 
wider review of all policies and procedures, taking into account the different roles and 
nature of support staff work, will be necessary.  

 
2.1.5   Our members are also rightly concerned that the introduction of registration 
could lead to a double jeopardy, so that an unfortunate incident could lead not just to 
them losing their job at their current workplace, but could see them banned from 
working as a School Learning Support Worker.  We know from statistics compiled by 
the Department for Education (England) in 2011 that whilst the number of official 
complaints made to Local Authorities against support staff are fewer than those made 
against teachers, the percentage of  support staff suspended is twice as high and 
nearly two-fifths  (323) compared to 12% of teachers (336) are referred for criminal 

Page 36



investigation.  Yet at the end only 5% of support staff compared to 3% of teachers are 
cautioned or convicted.  Further consideration must to be given to the composition of 
disciplinary panels.  It is our view that disciplinary action is only credible if a panel is 
composed of support staff peers from within that profession.  
 
2.1.6 We have concerns on the cost of registration.  Our position remains that low paid 
support staff should not have to fund the cost of registration out of their own pocket.  
We welcome the appendices that model potential costs and particularly welcome 
suggestions that progressive band rates could mean that the lowest paid would not 
have to pay.  Low pay is endemic for many schools support staff – jobs are often part 
time with some just a few hours per week.  The suggested boundaries and suggested 
rates attached to them, present some cliff edges, notably the potential increases 
between the models highlighted on page 13 of Annex 2 the Economic Fee model.  We 
would want detailed discussions and the pluses and minuses of the different models 
shown in the tables.  UNISON is concerned about the emphasis on cost neutrality as 
an operating principle of the EWC.  Aside from increased start up costs, there is a 
question mark over whether the new levels of income generated will be enough to 
offset the increased activity of the EWC.  
 
2.1.7 The Memorandum also discusses tax relief and notes that this should help to 
defray some costs.  There is a wider related issue to this – as some organisations 
receive tax relief on their subscriptions whilst others do not.  For instance members of 
the lecturers union UCU receive tax relief on their subscriptions, whilst others unions 
such as UNISON can get them only for certain groups (e.g. registered health 
professionals).  We would argue that should School Learning Support Workers achieve 
registration then UNISON would be in the same postion as UCU and we would seek 
support from the Wales government for UNISON members to receive concomitant 
treatment.   
 
2.1.8   A particularly relevant example of how regulation can be unhelpful is detailed in 
Lord Lingfield’s review of FE professionalism which touched on the regulation of 
associate teacher status at the Institute for Learning.  This group of worker felt short 
changed by the requirement to register and resented paying fees when they received 
little benefit.  We trust that the Education (Wales) Bill will not make these mistakes.  
 
2.2 School terms dates 

UNISON welcomes this part of the bill.  The proposal to harmonise school dates will be 
extremely beneficial to parents with children at different schools.  Proposals to free up 
school times and dates in England has unsurprisingly caused some parent to complain 
 
2.3 Appointment of HM Chief Inspector  

UNISON welcomes proposals to appoint the Chief Inspector in Wales.  A Wales 
appointee should understand the different education system, priorities and 
environment.  They should also understand the differences in local democracy and the 
role of the state in publicly provided education.   
 
UNISON believes it would be preferable that the process for appointment should be 
seen to be open, transparent and credible.  The current process for the appointment of 
the HMCI in England is not seen to be independent and the current appointee is widely 
viewed as not being independent from the Secretary of State.  The proposed change 

Page 37



gives a further opportunity for the Wales Government to introduce a superior form of 
HMCI governance.  
 
2.4 Appropriateness of the powers for Welsh Ministers 
 
The preponderance of Ministerial power to amend and adapt the functions of the EWC 
is an area of concern for UNISON.  We would suggest that future decisions about the 
EWC need to be made by the Assembly rather than individual Ministers.  Similarly, 
decisions about the composition of the Council should not be the responsibility of an 
individual Minister.  UNISON would also argue for an element of electability to the 
Council from within the registered membership.   
 
2.5 Appraisal and Performance Management 
 
UNISON recognises the positive role appraisals can have in supporting and developing 
staff.  UNISON does not support the principle of performance related pay and therefore 
does not support the proposal to allow Ministers, by regulation, to link performance with 
remuneration (23/5) as part of the appraisal process.  Remuneration of staff is currently 
a matter Ministers leave to the discretion of relevant employers and collective 
bargaining arrangements.  UNISON believes there are potential risks in Ministers 
seeking to influence one part of the remuneration package, without taking into account 
the impact this may have.  There are currently varying arrangements for the 
remuneration of different staff groups, and no apparent evidence that this specific pay 
related matter requires regulating.  There may be some potential benefits should 
Ministers wish to Regulate in respect of remuneration, in which case UNISON believes 
it would be necessary to consider the whole remuneration package, including 
appropriate grading structures, levels of pay, and pay progression. 
 
 
 
Jon Richards 
National Secretary 
Education and Children’s Services 
 
Jessica Cromie  
Regional Organiser  
UNISON Cymru Wales Schools Lead  
 

Page 38



UNISON RESPONSE TO THE FUTURE DELIVERY OF EDUCATION SERVICES IN 
WALES 

 
UNISON is pleased to be able to put forward the views of support staff working in education 
on the future of education services in Wales. Support staff are a significant group of 
workers who are, more often than not, overlooked when opinions about education are 
invited. 
 
UNISON is the largest education union in the UK with 350,000 members working in 
schools, early years, FE and HE. We have 245,000 members working in schools across the 
UK, around 18,000 of who work in Wales. 

Improving school performance - raising standards and improving learner outcomes 
at all ages 
 

Any government or opposition can find some form of succour or justification by interpreting 
the data from the international tables: PISA, TIMSS or PIRLS, to justify their particular 
policy or complaint.  Similarly results and school league tables in England have been used 
to claim either success for the policy of academies by the Department for Education;  or 
show that they do no better than comparable local authority schools and have used 
vocational exams to boost performances by the Local Schools Network and Wrigley and 
Kalambouka (www.changingschools.org.uk).  As the Academies commission report 
‘Unleashing Greatness’ noted “There have been some stunning successes among 
individual sponsored academies and academy chains.....it is increasingly clear that 
academy status alone is not a panacea for improvement” 
 
What does seem to be commonly accepted is that background and environment have a 
significant effect on attainment, from a very early stage For instance data produced by 
Chris Cook at the Financial Times shows clear links between attainment and geography 
and demography.  http://www.ft.com/cms/s/0/e2c19bbe-7093-11e2-85d0-
00144feab49a.html#axzz2NyRlSCyU  . 
 
Other widely accepted evidence includes the recognition that in general better qualified staff 
lead to an improvement in pupil attainment.  Leadership of schools and autonomy within a 
regulated system also seem to have an impact. Additionally some targeted programmes 
such as London Challenge can lead to dramatic improvements in areas that are lagging. 
And, well targeted funding and investment in infrastructure has noticeable benefits. 
 
Therefore it is important to acknowledge that Wales starts from a position of relative 
poverty, compared to some other parts of the UK, and that spending per pupil is 
significantly lower (£600+ per pupil). This is not an excuse for any worse attainment, but it 
will inevitably have an impact. 
 
Support staff play a crucial role in attainment at schools, directly by TAs and learning 
mentors in the classroom and learning support  by technicians, librarians and others 
including school meals, home liaison and a clean and safe environment.  
 
UNISON has already submitted evidence to the Minister for Education and Skills on the role 
of support staff (see appendix 1). This includes evidence on the professional development 
of support staff and the value of national job role profiles.  Since this report a suite of 50 

 

 

 

Paper 1 : Appendix A

Page 39



nationally agreed job profiles have been produced by the National Joint Council (NJC), 
these are currently out for consultation. These will prove a valuable tool for schools in 
enduring consistency and for underpinning equal value.  
 
The national agreement on raising standards and tackling workload in schools in England 
and Wales introduced in 2003 was aimed at freeing up time for teachers and head teachers 
to concentrate on teaching standards. This was vigorously pursued in the early days and 
teaching staff benefited from dedicated PPA time, cover and a reduction in hours. However 
recent times have seen this agreement drift and teachers are increasingly picking up non-
core teaching tasks, which will inevitably have an impact,. 
 
UNISON has recently produced a report: The Evident Value of Teaching Assistants 

http://www.unison.org.uk/education/schools/pages_view.asp?did=15215  based on a 
survey of over 200 school leaders. This report was produced  to inform the debate that had 
been stimulated by the Sutton Trust Teaching and Learning Toolkit, which suggested  that 
Teaching Assistants (TAs) had little impact. In fact the evidence they were quoting - based 
on the DISS report by the Institute of Education (IoE) - was an average statistic which, 
when broken down showed that  many teaching assistants had significant impact , whilst 
others who were poorly trained or badly deployed had a negative impact.  Clearly the issue 
is not about TAs, but how they are used. This was backed by a recent follow up book 
released earlier this year by the IoE: Reassessing the Impact of Teaching Assistants: How 
Research Changes Practice and Policy. A useful recent article in the TES (15th March 
2013) by Matthew Taylor of the RSA: ‘How can assistants be of more assistance’ fine tuned 
this debate. 
 
A few key facts from UNISON’s report: 

· 95% of school leaders said TAs added value to schools and that they couldn’t run 
their schools without  them.  

· Generalisations on the impact of TAs do not reflect the complex variations in their 
deployment. 

· Leaders identified  problems with effective deployment as: resources, limited training 
and professional development opportunities, working with teachers, job demands 
and how they are managed. 

 
UNISON believes that a re-statement of the value of the 2003 workforce agreement and a 
call for correct training development and deployment of teaching assistants, backed up by 
the NJC job profiles would lead to a significant improvement in improving school outcomes. 
 
Better support and challenge to schools and quality of teaching and learning 
 
The Minister for Education and Skills has been forthright in his criticism of the role of local 
authorities in their relationship with schools; one of the few areas in which he seems to 
reach agreement with the UK coalition government.   
 
This debate about support, improvement and challenge has been playing in England for a 
while. The rapid increase in the number of academies and reduced funding has seen key 
local authority roles, such as performance management and school improvement, 
diminished. These allied to the changing responsibility for admissions, which ought to be 
geographic and even-handed, are leading to an incoherent education system, undermining 
good government policies on access and social mobility.  
There is now a large number of single standing convertor academies who have limited 
external support or external challenge  - with decreased local authority scrutiny and, as 
many of them are graded outstanding by Ofsted, lighter touch inspection.  

Page 40



 
We would argue that the Welsh Government should set strategic frameworks and be able 
to intervene if necessary – but we would caution against it sucking in support and challenge 
responsibilities from local authorities.  On the frontline, schools should focus on the direct 
delivery of education, with school staff autonomy, but with strong links to the community to 
ensure accountability. But what of admission, improvement and support services, surely 
these need to be separate from schools and central government and be the responsibility of 
a middle tier? 
 
Alternative middle tier structures suggested in England also have their problems. How 
democratic, costly and accountable would appointed school commissioners be? Elected 
commissioners may be democratic, but would have weak links with both local support 
structures and national academy chains (and as mayoral and police commissioner  
referenda have shown may not be widely supported  ), Inspection authorities could be 
conflicted and can be too easily influenced by central government.  
 
So unless a better model is proposed, UNISON believes that local authorities remain the 
best model for the middle tier – albeit one that itself needs to be opened up to transparent 
inspection and critical challenge from the Welsh Government.  
 
Value for money and effective use of resources 
 
We have already outlined above the most significant change that could improve value for 
money: the effective use of teaching assistants and the freeing up of time for teachers to 
concentrate on improving pupil learning. 
 
We also believe that there is a need to address the poor state of some of the school stock.  
Many current buildings require significant investment to improve the learning environment 
and also eliminate the risk of asbestos which affects around 75% of school buildings. An 
increase in school building investment would also stimulate the economy. 
 
The academy programme in England has also led to significant inefficiencies and 
undermined the economies of scale available to local authorities. The additional funding 
provided to academies has also created a huge financial hole in DfE funding which has 
necessitated transfer from other budgets. Increased risks and liabilities have also 
transferred and UNISON’s concerns around academies’ insurance was noted in the 
Academies Commission report.  
 
Coherence and strong links between all areas of education including post 16 and 
wider children’s services 
 
As we have already stated local authorities have crucial role in ensuring a coherent vision 
focussed on the needs of their local communities.  
 
UNISON has supported shared services where the aim is better co-operation and service 
delivery, in return for assurances which safeguard our members’ jobs, terms and 
conditions.  Our criticism of the four consortia model, however, is that it fails to correspond 
with Carl Sergeant’s six Regional Collaborative Footprint’s which we believe would be a 
more effective means of raising standards and ensuring collaboration with other areas of 
public service. In addition we are concerned that allowing each Consortia to develop its own 
Governance model will lead to a lack of consistency and, depending upon the model 
adopted, a lack of accountability.  
 

Page 41



Looking into the future it is inevitable that the 22 Local Authorities will be re-organised. It is 
disappointing, therefore, that the current four consortia model fails to fit with any possible 
future blueprint for local government reorganisation.  It is UNISON’s view that this should be 
addressed as we see local authorities still playing crucial role in the future delivery of 
education services in Wales.  
 
UNISON believes that improvements must start from the earliest age and should be 
inclusive and supportive. UNISON was a firm supporter of the previous government’s 
policy: ‘Every Child Matters’ and the introduction of Sure Start in England and the ‘Flying 
Start’ programme in Wales.  We welcome the early findings that suggest the latter 
programme is having an effect and the proposed additional £74 million to double the 
number of children benefitting from Flying Start’, from 18,000 to 36,000 by 2015. Too often 
however our members report that links between early years programmes and schools are 
not joined up enough.  
 
Support staff play a key role in ensuring that wider children’s services are co-ordinated and  
pupils with Special Education Needs or those with health needs are able to participate in 
schools and improve their attainment. UNISON has recently produced a report jointly with 
the RCN on the role of support staff in supporting pupils with health needs  
http://www.unison.org.uk/acrobat/20539.pdf   This seeks to clarify the roles and 
responsibilities of schools and staff, necessary training and production of individual care 
plans.  
 
Conclusion  
 
We note that some evidence suggests that increased autonomy for schools helps improve 
results. However we also note that strong support and critical challenge are also important 
and so would not wish to see the English experiment of academy conversion and 
unplanned and the potentially wasteful introduction of free schools.   
 
We believe that a re-invigoration of the 2003 Workload Agreement would free up teaching 
staff to do what they do best. Accompanying investment in training and development for 
support staff and improved deployment would also have a huge benefit. 
 
We believe that new initiatives should be piloted and subject to monitoring and evaluation. 
We would suggest an evolutionary rather than revolutionary change as it is difficult to pick 
up eggs once they have been broken.   
 
 
Jess Cromie 
School Lead 
UNISON Cymru/Wales  
 
Jon Richards 
National Secretary, 
Education and Children’s Services  
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix 1: NJC Trade Union  submission to Leighton Andrews, September 2012  
 

Page 42



CYP(4)-23-13 : Paper 2 
National Assembly for Wales 

Children and Young People Committee 
Education (Wales) Bill : Stage 1 
Response from : GMB 
 

 

Our ref:  MJP/RG 

mike.payne@gmb.org.uk 

 

 

29 August 2013 

 

 

 

 

Dear Colleague 

 

Re: Response to the Hill Review on behalf of the GMB 

 

It is the view of the GMB that the current structure of Education in Wales is no longer fit for purpose.  

It has become fragmented with too many anomalies and competing elements pulling in different 

directions.  Currently the Welsh Government provides the Policy and Curriculum direction and, in 

our view, this should remain the case. 

 

Below this 4 Education Consortia have been set up to provide an overall Schools Improvement 

Service that should in theory standardise the implementation of Education in Wales.  However, 

these Consortia have not been set up using the same model, this has led to some being more 

effective than others and instead of a consistent approach, we currently have four different 

directions of travel. 

 

It is our view also that these Consortia are in danger of becoming an alternative power base to the 

democratically elected Local Education Authorities.  It is the view of the GMB that democratic 

control should be retained by the LEA’s who are better placed to provide the leadership and more 

importantly, the resources needed for schools in their areas to improve. 

 

Having made this point, however, the GMB believes that the number of LEA’s/Councils in Wales 

need to reduce to 7 or 8, thereby allowing for economies of scale to be realised more efficiently and 

for high quality educationalists to be concentrated into fewer Local Authorities.  We believe that this 

will lead to a higher quality of education in each area and lead to financial savings. 

 

With regard to schools, greater autonomy over the past few years has not necessarily led to an 

improvement in educational standards.  It is our view that schools must have the flexibility to work 

with Governors and parents to implement the curriculum in such a way that reflects parental choice 

and local circumstances.  However, there are also areas that need to be more centrally controlled.  It 

cannot be right, for example, that issues relating to employment are different in the 22 Local 

Authorities following Job Evaluation.  That casual and temporary employment is widespread with 

Page 43



staff being given termly or annual contracts and where they face redundancy or cuts in hours, as a 

common occurrence. 

 

It is the GMB’s view that there remains a need for a common structure for School support Staff 

across Wales and for employment terms and conditions to be more consistent e.g. Redeployment 

rather than Redundancy would lead to more security of employment and a saving to the public 

purse. 

 

In addition to the above, the Education legislation which is due for implementation from September 

has two elements on which we would also like to comment:- 

 

1. Continuous Professional Development. 

 

We fully support this development.  However, we would suggest that there is a need for a 

phased implementation so as to take into account the stage that a member finds themselves in 

their career.  We would also recommend that the Welsh Government needs to allocate 

sufficient funds to cover the costs of training that will lead to an up-skilling of the professional 

group of staff and provide career paths for promotion. Potentially a training needs analysis to 

ensure that we have sufficient numbers of TA’s, HLTA’s and Admin Staff employed across all 

Local Authorities and Schools in Wales. 

 

Perhaps the Welsh Government could undertake this analysis in conjunction with FE/HE Sector 

and Trade Unions in Wales thereby leading to a consistent qualification for all School Support 

Staff to attain. 

 

 

2. Registration 

 

The GMB again has no problem in principle with School Support Staff becoming registered.  

However, we would wish to become involved in the details of how this will be implemented and 

how the registration body in Wales will operate.   

 

We do not support the principle of School Support Staff paying for registration, especially whilst 

the terms and conditions of School Support Staff remain as dispirit as is the case currently. 

 

We would also recommend that the body be renamed so to reflect the fact that School Support 

Staff now make up approximately 50% of the workforce.  Perhaps we could suggest the General 

Teaching Council for Wales be renamed the Education Staffs and Teaching Council for Wales. 

 

Finally, we would also recommend that the terms of reference for any misconduct Committees 

be discussed and agreed.  We also recommend that these Committees be made up of the 

relevant groups of staff dependent upon the appellant e.g. School Support Staff members to 

hear cases relating to School Support Staff. 

 

I trust that these comments are of assistance?  If needed, the GMB would be more than 

prepared to  attend meetings of the Education Committee of the Assembly to expand upon our 

views if felt appropriate.  

 

Page 44



Yours sincerely 

 

Mike Payne 
 

Mike Payne 

GMB Regional Political Officer 

On behalf of the 

GMB Wales and South West Region 

Page 45



CYP(4)-23-13 : Paper 3 

National Assembly for Wales 

Children and Young People Committee 

Education (Wales) Bill : Stage 1 

Response from : NUT Cymru 

About NUT Cymru: 

NUT Cymru represents primary and secondary school members and is the largest teaching union in 

Wales.  We welcome the opportunity to contribute evidence to the Children and Young People’s 

Committee on the Education (Wales) Bill. 

Areas for consideration: 

Education Workforce Council – Registration and regulation of teachers and the wider workforce: 

NUT Cymru welcomes the Welsh Government’s proposals for a professionally-led regulator to 

include other education professionals.  We have long argued for a more wide ranging professional 

body and were broadly supportive of the proposals put forward by the Welsh Government during 

the consultation on this issue. 

We do share the concerns outlined by the GTCW regarding the failure to address the anomaly which 

sees teachers working in private and independent schools being excluded from the requirement to 

be registered and regulated.  There is a strong argument for teachers and support staff at 

independent schools to be registered.  The thinking currently is that a teacher can be dismissed 

following serious allegations of misconduct or incompetence in an independent school but can 

continue to teach both in the maintained and independent sectors (unless the teacher has chosen to 

register voluntarily).  When a teacher in the maintained sector is subjected to similar allegations 

they would be referred to GTCW for investigation.  While this situation exists in teaching in Wales it 

would be unthinkable in other professions such as medicine. 

We would also echo the GTCW’s position in relation to the role of the Minister.  It would appear as if 

the Bill gives the Minister influence over the advice that the reconfigured council can provide, as 

well as other areas such as drafting a code of conduct.   

We firmly believe that any successor to the GTCW must retain its independence from Government 

to ensure the confidence of the teaching profession.  In Scotland the GTC is wholly independent of 

government and Northern Ireland has consulted on a similar approach. 

NUT Cymru also has some concerns about the composition of the new education workforce council.  

We firmly believe the membership of the council should be determined via a process of election to 

ensure democratic accountability that secures the trust and support of the profession.  Establishing a 

board via Ministerial appointment will be met with scepticism and open to accusations that it is 

politically biased and lacks impartiality.  There appears very little clear rationale for this structure 

Agenda Item 3

Page 46



other than to instil a political bias which will neither serve to enhance the reputation of the body or 

the incumbent Minister. 

Finally we believe that it would be important to retain the word ‘teaching’ in the title of the new 

body to ensure continuity and to firmly identify the council as a guardian of teaching standards. 

Reform of the registration and approval of independent school in respect of special educational 

needs; 

NUT Cymru largely supported the proposals to reform the registration and approval of independent 

schools in respect of special educational needs when the issue was consulted upon by the Welsh 

Government in November 2012. 

The proposals will reduce duplication of work, and therefore bureaucracy, thus ensuring quicker and 

easier access to SEN provision for pupils and parents.  We are also hopeful that the reforms will 

ensure that independent schools will have to specify the type of SEN provision they will offer.  An 

additional benefit will be the emphasis on local authorities to monitor and judge such provisions on 

a local level. 

Post-16 assessment of educational and training needs and specialist Further Education; 

These proposals appear a positive step forward in ensuring that the SEN provisions of post-16 

students are met.  Placing an obligation on local authorities to determine the level of provision 

required and sourcing such a provision prior to the post-16 stage of education appears a sensible 

approach that will hopefully ensure any potential difficulties can be highlighted and addressed well 

before they come to fruition. 

The local authority is the best place for this work to be done given it can more easily coordinate 

education, health and social service functions to ensure a joint approach. 

One concern that does spring up from the proposal is the implications of the on-going consultation 

on the future of education delivery in light of the Robert Hill review.  While this Bill is placing a clear, 

and correct emphasis on the role of the local authority in regards to SEN provisions for independent 

schools and post-16 education the Hill Review has proposed a weakening of the role of the middle 

tier of governance.  There needs to be a clear focus on how one impacts on the other.  It is also 

important to have clear guidance as to how, if at all, regional consortia will work into this model.  

Will the responsibility for these issues rest with individual local authorities, regardless of their make-

up following Robert Hill’s recommendations to cut their number by a third, or will regional education 

consortia be taking over the implementation?  

School term dates; 

We broadly supported the proposals put forward at the consultation phase and the Bill as drafted is 

a positive step forward.  Creating a unified term structure across Wales will address a lot of concerns 

for teachers, pupils and parents, especially for those families with children in different schools or 

even different counties. 

Page 47



These proposals are in stark contrast to the proposals being put forward in England that will radically 

reduce the school holidays and lengthen the school day.  Those measures are lacking in any coherent 

evidence and will have a detrimental impact on education standards. 

The appointment of HM Chief Inspector and HM Inspectors of education and training in Wales 

under section 19 of the Education Act 2005; 

This appears a sensible tidying up exercise to reflect the devolution of education and the powers of 

the Welsh Government in relation to the role of Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Education and 

Training in Wales. 

 

Page 48



NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU

1

Paper 4 
 
National Assembly for Wales 
 
Children and Young People Committee 
 
Education (Wales) Bill : Stage 1 
 
Response from : NASUWT Cymru 

1. The NASUWT welcomes the opportunity to submit written evidence to 

the Children and Young People Committee (CYPC) inquiry into the 

general principles of the Education (Wales) Bill 2013 (the Bill). 

2. The NASUWT is the largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK 

representing teachers and school leaders.

GENERAL COMMENTS 

3. The NASUWT notes that the terms of reference for this inquiry cover the 

consideration of four specific topics with the first topic, the general 

principles of the Bill, covering five areas on which legislation is proposed, 

and the second topic relating directly to these five areas. 

4. The NASUWT will, therefore, cover the first two topics by reference to 

the five areas proposed for legislation and address separately the 

remaining two topics. 

5. Where the NASUWT has submitted previously responses to the Welsh 

Government on the areas proposed for legislation, as described in the 

Bill, these have been annexed to this response. 

SPECIFIC COMMENTS 

6. Education Workforce Council – Registration and regulation of 

teachers and the wider workforce

 

 

 

CYP(4)-23-13 : Paper 4

Page 49



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
2 

Rather than reiterate here the issue and concerns raised by the 

NASUWT in the consultations conducted in 2011/12 (copy of responses 

attached at Annex A and B), this written evidence will focus on those 

aspects of this section of the Bill that should be of concern to the CYPC, 

if the new registration and regulatory body is to command the respect of 

teachers and the wider education workforce. 

 

The NASUWT offers the observations and comments that follow in a 

simple bullet-point form to provide clarity and focus to this evidence.  

 

i. The NASUWT welcomes the change of name, as the General 

Teaching Council for Wales (GTCW) failed to command respect 

amongst the teaching profession and has become a tarnished 

brand. 

 

ii. The NASUWT does not believe that the role of the new Education 

Workforce Council (the Council) should extend beyond a 

regulatory function and remains opposed to the provisions in the 

Bill that provide for the Council to contribute to the improvement of 

standards of teaching and the quality of learning in Wales.  

 

iii. The NASUWT maintains that the establishment of the Council 

should be based on a process of election, rather than appointment. 

However, as the Bill does not make such a provision, the Union 

believes that there should be automatic seats on the Council for 

representatives from each of the trade unions that represent the 

education workforce.  The NASUWT urges the CYPC to call on the 

Welsh Government to amend the Bill accordingly. 

 

iv. The NASUWT notes the provisions relating to the performance 

management/appraisal of the education workforce and recognises 

that the Explanatory Memorandum acknowledges that such 

arrangements are well established for teachers, but fails to 

acknowledge that such arrangements are also in place for 

Page 50



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
3 

lecturers. The provision in the Bill that would require Welsh 

Ministers to consult before such arrangements were extended to 

cover other registered persons is welcomed, as the workload 

implications for appraisers would be onerous and would need to be 

considered fully and costed in terms of time and additional staffing. 

 

v. The NASUWT maintains that the provisions in the Bill that relate to 

the code of conduct and practice for registered persons (the Code) 

fail to specify if the Code, that is to be prepared for consultation by 

the Welsh Minister, will seek to alter the current code that applies 

to registered teachers. Nonetheless, the Union welcomes the 

provisions that require consultation on the Code.  

 

vi. The NASUWT regrets that the Bill does not make provision to 

require the Council to consult with the trade unions that represent 

the education workforce over the formulation and/or amendments 

to the rules and procedures that apply to registered persons in 

respect of the Council’s disciplinary functions.  One of the failings 

of the GTCW was that the Council introduced changes to these 

rules and procedures without full and meaningful consultation.  The 

Union maintains it would be a fundamental error of judgement to 

allow the Council to operate in such a cavalier manner and urges 

the CYPC to call on the Welsh Government to amend the Bill 

accordingly. 

 

vii. Whereas the provision in the Bill that allows for a disciplinary case 

to be determined without a hearing is welcomed, the NASUWT is 

concerned that, as constructed, the decision rests with the Council 

and not with the registered person.  Given the GTCW’s propensity 

to seek to ‘grandstand’ in carrying out its disciplinary function in 

order to justify its existence, the Union urges the CYPC to seek to 

amend the Bill to provide the registered person with the right to 

accept a sanction without the need for a hearing. 

 

Page 51



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
4 

viii. The NASUWT maintains that the appeals process places too high 

and too onerous a condition on potential appellants as it requires 

an appeal to the High Court.  The Union urges the CYPC to seek 

to amend the Bill to provide an appeals process that can be dealt 

with under a different framework and/or jurisdiction.  

 

ix. The NASUWT sees no reason why the categories of persons who 

will be required to register should not be extended at this time to 

cover members of the inspectorate, the consortia and local 

authority employees who comprise part of the education workforce. 

The Union urges the CYPC to seek to amend the Bill to cover 

these persons.  

 

x. The NASUWT maintains that because registration with the Council 

will be a condition of employment, the employer should then cover 

the cost of the registration fee through funding provided by the 

Welsh Government.  The Union urges the CYPC to seek to amend 

the Bill to ensure that provision is made to prevent the fee from 

becoming a tax on the education workforce in Wales. 

 

 

7. Reform of the registration and approval of independent schools in 

respect of special educational needs (SEN) 

 

The NASUWT was largely supportive of this reform in the response 

submitted to the Welsh Government through the consultation conducted 

in 2012 (copy of responses attached at Annex C). 

 

However, the Union believes it may be of interest to the CYPC to 

consider the note of caution expressed in this response about the 

possible implications for individual pupils with SEN requiring placements 

in independent schools and for local authorities. 

 

 

Page 52



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
5 

8. Post-16 assessment of educational and training needs and 

specialist Further Education  

 

The thrust of the response submitted by the NASUWT to the consultation 

conducted in 2012 on this area of legislation was to welcome, in 

principle, the proposals to bring coherence across the sectors in terms of 

assessing and meeting the additional learning needs of post-16 learners 

and making the process less complex (copy of the response attached at 

Annex D). 

 

The Union did, however, express concern about the need to assess any 

potential hidden costs to local authorities in the discharge of the 

responsibility for arranging for an assessment of educational need and 

securing Post-16 provision for learners with learning difficulties and/or 

disabilities (LLDD).  

 

The NASUWT notes the cost-benefits analysis contained in the 

Explanatory Memorandum, but suggests that this is an area that the 

CYPC might wish to explore further with the Welsh Government and 

local authorities. 

 

9. School term dates 

 

The NASUWT presented a measured, but frank and robust response to 

the consultation conducted by the Welsh Government in 2012 on the 

proposal for legislation on school term dates (copy of the response 

attached at Annex E). 

 

Whereas the move to establish common school holiday patterns, albeit 

they were referred to as school term dates in the consultation document, 

was welcomed, the Union expressed grave concern about the power 

being given to Welsh Ministers and laid down markers with the Welsh 

Government over school holiday patterns. 

 

Page 53



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
6 

In highlighting potential barriers to this area of legislation, the NASUWT 

gives notice to the CYPC that the Union will expect Welsh Ministers, in 

the exercise of the powers provided in the Bill, to: 

 

i. maintain a three-term year with half-term breaks of at least a 

week, a break of at least two weeks at the end of the Autumn and 

Spring terms, and a break of at least six weeks at the end of the 

Summer term; 

 

ii. respect fully the contractual nature of the holiday pattern and the 

need for the employer, that is, the local authority and/or the school 

governing body, to reach agreement with the school workforce 

trade unions before implementing change; 

 

iii. recognise that the Welsh Government has no employer function 

and that, as a consequence, any direction to employers would 

have to be based on a collective agreement with the trade unions 

representing the school workforce through the provision 32B (3 & 

4) of the Bill; 

 

iv. be mindful of the potential for dispute and industrial action if 

directions are made that do not carry the support of the school 

workforce. 

 

The NASUWT does, however, welcome the provisions in the Bill that will 

add to the Education Act 2002 to make it clear that in Wales, the 

responsibility for fixing term and holiday dates will remain with local 

authorities, or governing bodies in the case of a foundation or voluntary 

aided schools, and that either the local authority or the governing body, 

depending on the circumstances, will retain responsibility for fixing 

school session times. 

 

Page 54



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
7 

10. The appointment of HM Chief Inspector and HM Inspector of 

Education and Training in Wales under section 19 of the Education 

Act 2005 

 

The NASUWT recognises that the Bill is being used to achieve the 

repeal of section 19(6) of the Education Act 2005 to remove the 

Secretary of State from the appointment process of the Chief Inspector 

and Inspector of Education and Training in Wales, in accordance with 

confirmation received from the Lord President of the Privy Council that 

the First Minister in Wales should advise on such appointments. 

 

11. The financial implication of the Bill and the Regulatory Impact 

Assessment 

 

The NASUWT recognises the work that has been undertaken in terms of 

the regulatory impact and cost-benefit assessments, but notes the 

extensive use of estimates and assumptions in identifying risk and 

benefits, and in reaching conclusions and preferred options. 

 

12. The appropriateness of the powers in the Bill for Welsh Ministers to 

make subordinate legislation 

 

The NASUWT welcomes the summary provided in the table at chapter 5 

of the Explanatory Memorandum but would urge the CYPC to look at the 

concerns expressed by the Union in the consultation responses 

submitted previously to the Welsh Government, as attached, in respect 

of some of the powers provided to Welsh Ministers and perhaps, more 

importantly, to consider whether or not sufficient safeguards have been 

put into place in the Bill to prevent the abuse of such powers. 

 

 

 

Rex Phillips  

Wales Organiser  

Page 55



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
1 

Paper 4 : Annex A 
 
1. The NASUWT welcomes the opportunity to comment on the proposals to 

amend the requirements for registration of the education workforce in 

Wales. 

 

2. The NASUWT is the largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK 

representing teachers and school leaders. 

 

GENERAL COMMENTS 

 

3. The NASUWT believes that the status of the teaching profession is 

enhanced by a regulatory body that has a clear remit, focuses on 

regulatory matters, enhances the status of the profession, does not seek 

to extend its remit to pay and conditions of service matters and does not 

seek to present itself as a substitute for representation by recognised trade 

unions. 

4. The NASUWT believes the General Teaching Council for Wales (GTCW) 

has failed all of these tests and consequently has failed to command the 

confidence and respect of either the public or the profession. 

5. Teachers are entitled to have a regulatory body that safeguards their 

professional status. The NASUWT believes that the regulatory function 

should be akin to, for example, the General Medical Council (GMC). 

6. The NASUWT has called consistently for the GTCW to be disbanded 

because of the way in which the Council conducts professional 

competency and disciplinary hearings and its desire to extend its functions 

beyond that of a regulatory body.  

 

7. Successive surveys conducted by the NASUWT have provided clear 

evidence that the GTCW is not valued by the teaching profession and has 

now become a tainted brand.   

Page 56



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
2 

 

8. The NASUWT is of the clear view that the establishment of a new 

registration body that respects fully the human right to privacy and acts in 

the interests of the public and raises the status of the teaching profession 

provides the most appropriate way forward. 

 

SPECIFIC COMMENTS 

 

9. The NASUWT offers the observations and comments that follow in relation 

to the questions posed on the consultation response form. 

 

Question 1 

Do you agree that registration should be extended beyond school teachers to 

the wider education workforce in Wales, to include school learning support 

staff, further education lecturers and the work-based learning workforce?  

 

The NASUWT does not believe that the case has been made in the 

consultation paper for extending registration beyond school teachers. The 

teaching profession should have a regulatory body dedicated to maintaining 

and enhancing its professional status. 

 

The NASUWT reminds the Welsh Government that all education practitioners, 

and others who work and/or come into regular contact with children and 

young people, are required to register with the Independent Safeguarding 

Authority (ISA) to ensure their suitability to work with these groups. 

 

In terms of the conduct and competence of the wider education workforce, the 

NASUWT maintains that these are employment matters and should be dealt 

with by the employer. 

 

The NASUWT maintains that the clear distinction between the expectations 

and standards that can be required of teachers and headteachers and the 

wider education workforce argues against requiring the registration of school 

learning support staff and the work-based learning workforce. 

Page 57



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
3 

The NASUWT understands that a registration body already exists for further 

education lecturers. 

 

Question 2 

Do you think that any other members of the education workforce, for example 

youth workers, play workers and other school staff, should be registered? 

 

As stated in answer to question 1, the NASUWT does not believe that the 

case has been made in the consultation paper for extending registration 

beyond school teachers. 

 

The NASUWT reminds the Welsh Government that all education practitioners, 

and others who work and/or come into regular contact with children and 

young people, are required to register with the ISA to ensure their suitability to 

work with these groups. 

 

In terms of the conduct and competence of the wider education workforce, the 

NASUWT maintains that these are employment matters and should be dealt 

with by the employer or they should have their own distinct professional 

bodies. 

 

The analogy can be made with the NHS where there is a diverse workforce in 

terms of skills and responsibilities but different bodies have responsibility for 

standards and regulation. This ensures that the distinct nature of each group’s 

professional qualifications and role is recognised. 

 

Question 3 

Do you agree that the functions of a registration body in Wales should include 

checks that individuals are appropriately qualified and fit to practise and a 

disciplinary function leading to potential barring of individuals who are deemed 

unfit?  

 

The NASUWT maintains that this should be the sole function of a registration 

body and that function should be limited to teachers. 

Page 58



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
4 

The NASUWT questions the suitability of the references to ‘fit’ and ‘unfit’ to 

practice, as this could be confused with medical fitness to teach, which is 

covered by separate and distinct regulations.      

 

Question 4 

Do you agree that decisions about functions such as discipline and 

professional competence should be made independent of government? 

 

The NASUWT agrees that the decisions about discipline and professional 

competency should be made independent of government but maintains that 

government has a responsibility to act in the public interest and therefore to 

determine how such functions will be carried out and to ensure that the body 

responsible is funded fully out of the public purse, albeit that this may take the 

form of the Welsh Government reimbursing the fee, in full, to registered 

teachers.  

 

Further, the NASUWT maintains that government has a responsibility to 

ensure that the actions of a regulatory body charged with the responsibility of 

carrying out functions such as discipline and professional competence should 

not bring the teaching profession into disrepute.  

 

The NASUWT is clear that the GTCW has undermined public confidence in 

the teaching profession because of the failure to respect the confidentiality of 

the school disciplinary process and the human right to privacy, and the 

‘grandstanding’ that surrounds disciplinary cases.  

 

The NASUWT maintains that it is an affront to the rules of natural justice to 

place details of school disciplinary hearings and unfounded allegations in the 

public arena prior to any decision being made by the professional conduct or 

professional competency panels.  

 

Question 5 

Do you agree that wider functions should be added on a phased basis into the 

work of the new or reconstituted registration body? These could include 

Page 59



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
5 

approval of initial training courses, requirements for continuing professional 

development and setting of professional standards. 

 

The NASUWT is of the firm view that the sole function of a registration body 

should be to regulate. This consultation is premised on expanding the function 

and is therefore fundamentally flawed. 

 

The NASUWT maintains that providing a regulatory body with powers of 

accreditation for initial training courses could constitute a conflict of interest. 

 

In addition, the NASUWT maintains that continuing professional development 

(CPD) and professional standards relate to teachers’ conditions of service and 

should be outside the remit of a regulatory body. The role of a regulatory body 

should be, where necessary, to make judgements in relation to standards, not 

to set the standards.  

 

The NASUWT maintains that it is the role of government, in consultation with 

the accredited teacher trade unions, to define the standards expected of 

teachers.  

 

Question 6 

Are there any other specific functions you think that the new or reconstituted 

registration body should undertake? 

 

No. The NASUWT maintains that the functions of a registration body should 

be to register teachers and regulate the teaching profession.  

 

Question 7 

Do you think that a single professional council, with a membership with 

expertise across the wider education workforce, is the best way to secure 

appropriate professional expertise for the new or reconstituted registration 

body, or would a series of sector councils each specialising in a specific area 

of the workforce be more appropriate? 

 

Page 60



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
6 

The NASUWT has argued consistently for a teachers’ council, comprising 

elected registered teachers with designated seats for the teacher trade 

unions, not a general teaching council.  

 

Consequently, if the wider education workforce is to be subject to registration, 

the NASUWT maintains that the new or reconstituted registration body should 

be constituted on the basis of a series of sector-specific councils. 

 

Further, the NASUWT maintains that the membership of such councils should 

comprise elected members of the workforce in the sector-specific area, with 

seats provided for the recognised trade unions in those areas.  

 

Question 8 

Do you think that there should be a flat-rate fee for registration payable by all 

those registered or should differentiated fee rates apply? 

 

The NASUWT maintains that if registration is a condition of employment, then 

the employer should either pay or reimburse the registration fee. 

 

Further, the NASUWT maintains that responsibility for funding the fee, or 

reimbursement thereof, should rest with the Welsh Government.  

 

Question 9 

Do you think that greater clarity and coherence in requirements for matters 

such as qualifications, professional standards, performance management and 

professional development could support our drive to improve standards and 

flexibility across the wider workforce? 

 

The NASUWT maintains that this question is entirely misplaced within the 

context of this consultation.  

 

The NASUWT suggests that whether or not education practitioners are 

required to register with a registration body will not in itself support the drive to 

improve and raise standards and flexibility across the wider workforce. 

Page 61



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
7 

 

Indeed, the NASUWT is concerned that subjecting the wider workforce to the 

practice that is visited on the teaching profession could result in a loss of 

highly valued and dedicated support staff.  

 

Question 10 

We have asked a number of specific questions. If you have any related issues 

which we have not specifically addressed, please use this space to report 

them: 

 

The NASUWT is clear that any new or reconstituted registration body for 

teachers must: 

· be a teachers’ council; 

· comprise practising teachers and their trade union representatives; 

· be fully funded by the Welsh Government; 

· register and regulate teachers; 

· ensure that the discharge of its duties enhances the status of the 

profession; 

· respect the human right to privacy throughout conduct and competency 

hearings up to the point of decision.  

 

 

Chris Keates 

General Secretary  

 

Page 62



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
1 

Paper 4 : Annex B 
                                                

 
1. The NASUWT welcomes the opportunity to comment on the proposals for 

the registration of the education workforce in Wales. 

 

2. The NASUWT is the largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK 

representing teachers and school leaders. 

 

GENERAL COMMENTS 

 

3. The NASUWT is disappointed to note that very little account has been 

taken of the views expressed by the NASUWT in response to the previous 

consultation earlier this year. 

4. The NASUWT remains of the firm view that the sole function of a 

registration body should be to regulate, and therefore rejects the proposals 

to expand the remit of the new body. 

5. Further, the NASUWT rejects the proposal to establish the new body on 

the basis of appointment by the Welsh Government rather than 

maintaining a democratic basis for the Council. 

SPECIFIC COMMENTS 

 

6. The NASUWT offers the observations and comments that follow in relation 

to the questions posed on the consultation response form. 

 

Question 1 – Do you consider that we have identified the right groups in the 
first instance to be registered? 
 

The NASUWT remains of the view that the teaching profession should have a 

regulatory body dedicated to maintaining and enhancing its professional 

status and does not believe that there is a need to extend registration beyond 

school teachers. 

 

Page 63



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
2 

However, if registration is to be extended to other groups, the NASUWT 

maintains that anyone who undertakes classroom observation or who 

professes to be able to identify and/or demonstrate good pedagogic practice 

in the classroom should not only possess qualified teacher status (QTS) but 

should also be required to register with the council. This would include all 

members of the inspectorate, all school improvement officers and advisers. 

 
 
Question 2 – Is the proposal to collect all data on the workforce including 
qualifications in the first instance before identifying the minimum requirements 
for registration, appropriate and fair?  
 

The NASUWT maintains that it will be a matter for individual members of the 

workforce to determine if they will allow such data to be passed on to what 

would be a third party. 

 

Further, the NASUWT expects that individuals will be given written details and 

assurances about the use of such data and that their expressed permission 

will be sought before it is shared with government, employers or any other 

agency or party. 

 

The NASUWT has grave reservations about this proposal and would expect 

to be consulted fully on the nature and extent of the data to be collected and 

the use to which it will be put.  

 
Question 3 – Do you believe the arrangements for a two-staged approach 
within the disciplinary process will instil confidence in the professions and to 
the parents/carers, children and young people who they serve?   
 

 
Although it is acknowledged that the introduction of a two-staged approach 

within the disciplinary process has the potential to reduce the concerns and 

lack of confidence that teachers have in the GTCW, the NASUWT maintains 

that the proposal to move to a process that considers fitness to practise, 

rather than using the current case categories, will be viewed with distrust and 

distain. 

Page 64



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
3 

 

The NASUWT notes that employers would be under a duty to report to the 

registration body any conduct of an individual who has potentially broken the 

code of conduct. Despite the qualification that this requirement would not 

supersede any other employment policies within an organisation or set out in 

legislation, the Union maintains that rigorous safeguards would need to be 

built in to the referral process to ensure that due employment practice and 

process was followed before cases were placed before the registration body. 

 

The NASUWT remains of the view that it is an affront to the rules of natural 

justice to place details of school disciplinary hearings and unfounded 

allegations in the public arena prior to any decision being made by those 

responsible for hearing cases. 

 

Consequently, the NASUWT urges the Welsh Government to ensure that in 

the operation of its disciplinary function the registration body commands the 

confidence of the teaching profession and the wider school workforce by 

respecting fully the confidentiality of the school disciplinary process and the 

Human Right to Privacy.  

 

The NASUWT is not suggesting that cases should not be publicly listed or that 

the outcomes should not be publicly reported. However, the Union maintains 

that those called before the regulatory body should have the right to decide if 

a hearing is held in public or in private.  

 
Question 4 – Do you believe that one professional code of conduct and 
practice could be developed across the relevant sectors taking account of 
their roles and responsibilities? 
 

 
No.  

The NASUWT remains of the view that the diverse nature of the education 

workforce in terms of skills and responsibilities argues for different 

Page 65



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
4 

professional codes where the distinct nature of the professional qualifications 

and roles of each group is recognised. 

 
Question 5 – Do you agree that the council members should be appointed 
using the public appointments process? 
 

No.  

 

The NASUWT stands firmly opposed to this proposal, not least, since the 

Union has argued consistently that the regulatory body for teachers should be 

a teachers’ council, comprising elected registered teachers with designated 

seats for the teacher trade unions. 

 

However, given that it is proposed to establish a single council, the NASUWT 

maintains that the membership should comprise elected members of the 

education workforce with seats provided for the recognised trade unions.  

 

 
Question 6 – Do you agree that the advisory group members should be 
appointed by nomination by specified organisations and chaired by one of the 
relevant sector representatives from the council to ensure formal link between 
decision making council and the advisory groups? 
 

 
The NASUWT rejects the notion of advisory groups on the basis that the only 

function of the new registration body should be to regulate.  

 

Further, the NASUWT maintains that the proposal that the members of these 

advisory groups would be appointed following nomination by a range of 

specific organisations will do little to inspire confidence that the groups would 

be truly representational. 

 
Question 7 – We intend to collect data at an individual level in a manner that 
would support multiple uses, in order to streamline data collection and 
improve quality and flexibility. Would you support such a development? 
 

Page 66



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
5 

 
No. 

 

The NASUWT does not support this proposal for the reasons referred to in 

answer to question 2. 

 
Question 8 – Do you agree that the registration body should have powers to 
and accredit and professionally recognise relevant initial training courses? 
 

 
No. 

 
The NASUWT stands firmly opposed to this proposal.  

 
The NASUWT remains of the view that providing a regulatory body with 

powers of accreditation for initial training courses could constitute a conflict of 

interest. 

 
Question 9 – Should the body also have a role as necessary to accredit in-
service training across the sectors in key areas such as management and 
leadership? 
 

 
No. 

 

The NASUWT maintains that providing a regulatory body with power of 

accreditation for in-service training across the sectors in key areas related to 

the work of those it regulates could constitute a conflict of interest.   

 
Question 10 – Do the indicative fee levels represent a fair differential 
between the different groups to be registered and offer value for money for 
the professional regulation offered? 
 

The NASUWT would not expect the fees to be any greater than those 

indicated and suggests that they should constitute maximums above which 

the fees would not rise. 

Page 67



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
6 

 

However, and for the avoidance of doubt, the NASUWT remains of the view 

that as registration will be a condition of employment, the employer should 

either pay or reimburse the registration fee. 

 

The NASUWT expects the Welsh Government to budget for the 

reimbursement of the fee for all those required to register, regardless of their 

employment status.  

 
Question 11 – Do you agree that the reconstituted body should be left to 
determine the appropriate levels of differentiated fees for different groups of 
registrants thus enabling it to exercise independence and discretion in 
undertaking its work programme? 
 

No. 

The NASUWT stands firmly opposed to the notion of the reconstituted body 

being able to determine the level of the differentiated fees 

 

The NASUWT notes with interest that the reference to the Welsh Government 

retaining a veto on increases in fee level set by the body in the section on 

‘Status and governance structure’ is not included in the section on the ‘Fee’. 

 

In any event, the NASUWT maintains that the issue of the fee would become 

irrelevant if the expectation that the Welsh Government will budget for the 

reimbursement of the fee for all those required to register, regardless of their 

employment status, is realised. 

 
Question 12 – We have asked a number of specific questions. If you have 
any related issues which we have not specifically addressed, please use this 
space to report them.  
 
Please enter here:  
 

 

Page 68



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
7 

The NASUWT continues to question the suitability of using the term ‘fitness to 

practise’, as this could be confused with medical fitness to teach, which is 

covered by separate and distinct regulations. 

 

The NASUWT supports the view that the Welsh Government must ensure that 

all groups required to register must be protected by common frameworks for 

pay and conditions of service as this would reflect the protection enjoyed by 

teachers through the School Teachers’ Pay and Conditions of Service 

Document that applies across England and Wales. 

 

 

Chris Keates 

General Secretary  

 

For further information on the Union’s response, contact Rex Phillips, Wales 

Organiser.  

 

The NASUWT questions the suitability of the references to ‘fit’ and ‘unfit’ to 

practice, as this could be confused with medical fitness to teach, which is 

covered by separate and distinct regulations.  

 

Page 69



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
1 

Paper 4 : Annex C 

 
                                                

1. The NASUWT welcomes the opportunity to comment on the proposal to 

reform the registration and approval of independent schools in respect of 

special educational needs (SEN). 

 

2. The NASUWT is the largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK 

representing teachers and school leaders.  

 

GENERAL COMMENTS 

 

3. The NASUWT notes that the thrust of this consultation is to remove the 

requirement for approval from Welsh Ministers for independent schools to 

admit pupils with SEN and place the duty firmly with local authorities who 

already have the responsibility to secure appropriate provision for children 

and young people with SEN.  

 

4. It is suggested that the requirement for the approval of Welsh Ministers, 

under section 347 (s347) of the Education Act 1996, is unnecessary as it 

duplicates the issues required to be considered by Welsh Ministers under 

section 160 (s160) of the Act. 

 

5. Although it is acknowledged that there appears to be some duplication 

with the processes used to register and approve independent schools as 

required under these sections, it appears that s347 is child-centred, 

whereas s160 is school-centred.  

 

6. The NASUWT questions whether the Welsh Government has considered 

carefully if the repeal of s347 can be reconciled with other Welsh 

Government policies and initiatives that place the focus firmly on children 

and young people. 

 

7. Further, in noting from the Ministerial foreword, that the Minister for 

Education and Skills is keen to take into consideration the consultation on 

Page 70



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
2 

the wider reform of the current SEN, the NASUWT trusts that this 

keenness will not outweigh the caution that is necessary to avoid any 

suggestion of pre-empting the outcome of that consultation. 

 

SPECIFIC COMMENTS 

 

8. The NASUWT offers the observations and comments that follow in relation 

to the questions posed on the consultation response form. 

 
Question 1 – Do you agree that s347 should be repealed?  
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree 

 

 
Supporting comments 
 

Although the NASUWT recognises the merit in the argument that s347 is 

unnecessary as it duplicates the provisions of s160, and notes that the 

concerns expressed in response to the consultation letter of October 2010 

that sought the repeal of s347 under the Education (Wales) Measure 2010 

have to some extent been addressed by the safeguards that are now being 

proposed, the Union remains concerned that safeguards present reactive 

rather than proactive measures.  As the regulations stand, s347 requires the 

Welsh Government to approve independent school placements before pupils 

are placed, whereas the safeguards provide for Ministers to intervene after 

placements have been made. 

 
Question 2 – It is proposed that independent schools will be required under 
s160 to register to admit pupils with AN if they cater for pupils who have 
significant and/or severe AN, equivalent to those currently with the same 
entitlement protection under a statement of SEN.  Independent schools will be 
required to define the provision of AN that they will cater for. Do you agree 
with the proposal?  
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree 

 

 
Supporting comments 
 

The NASUWT questions the prudence of including the reference to additional 

needs (AN) in this consultation as it could be seen to be pre-empting the 

Page 71



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
3 

outcome of the consultation on the reform of the legislative framework for 

SEN. 

 

The NASUWT reminds the Welsh Government that at this time there is no 

statutory footing in Wales for the concept of AN. 

 

However, and notwithstanding the views expressed above about the repeal of 

s347, the NASUWT agrees that independent schools that cater for pupils who 

are currently protected under a statement of SEN should be required to 

register to admit such pupils.  

 

Indeed, the NASUWT maintains that such registration should be required 

where independent schools cater for pupils with SEN but who are not in 

receipt of a statement of SEN. 

 
 
Question 3 – It is proposed that independent schools registered to admit 
pupils with AN will be subject to annual monitoring visits, the same as those 
schools currently approved as suitable for the admission of children with SEN 
statements generally. Do you agree with the proposal?  
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree 

 

 
Supporting comments 
 

The NASUWT recognises and accepts that independent schools that are 

registered to admit pupils with SEN should be subject to annual monitoring 

visits. 

 
Question 4 – Do you agree with the proposal to publish annual monitoring 
reports of independent schools? 

 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree 

 

 
Supporting comments 
 

The NASUWT welcomes the proposal to publish annual monitoring reports in 

the interests of openness and transparency. 

 

Page 72



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
4 

 
Question 5 – Do you agree with the proposal to issue guidance to local 
authorities and proprietors of independent schools? 
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree 

 

 
Supporting comments 
 

The NASUWT accepts the need for guidance to be issued to local authorities 

and proprietors of independent schools, and would welcome the opportunity 

to assist in the formulation of the guidance. 

 
Question 6 – We have asked a number of specific questions. If you have any 
related issues which we have not specifically addressed, please use this 
space to report them: 
 

In noting that in removing the requirement for approval of SEN placements in 

independent schools from Welsh Ministers, and placing the duty firmly with 

local authorities, the NASUWT is concerned that the consultation document is 

silent on the issues of funding. 

 

The NASUWT expects local authorities to be provided with sufficient funds to 

allow the discharge of their duty to be determined on need rather than on 

affordability. 

 

 

 

Chris Keates 

General Secretary  

 

Page 73



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
1 

Paper 4 : Annex D 
                                                

 
1. The NASUWT welcomes the opportunity to comment on the proposals for 

the reform of the legislative framework for special educational needs 

Forward in partnership for children and young people with additional 

needs. 

 

2. The NASUWT is the largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK 

representing teachers and school leaders.  

 

GENERAL COMMENTS 

 

3. The NASUWT welcomes the statement in the Ministerial forward that the 

aim is to build on existing good practice with evolutionary rather than 

revolutionary change. 

 

4. The NASUWT acknowledges that the proposals are aimed at taking a 

more holistic approach to providing for the whole range of additional needs 

(AN) of children and young people and recognises that this approach 

reflects the provision made for pupils with additional needs in Scotland. 

 

5. The proposal for a full partnership between education, health and social 

service is welcomed in principle, but the NASUWT believes there are key 

challenges to be addressed in the practicalities and implementation of 

multi-agency working. 

 

6. Establishing effective collaboration and multi-agency working is extremely 

challenging. It requires the appropriate provision of time and adequate 

resources, and relies on a clear framework being put in place. 

 

7. Multi-agency working will allow for the sharing of information, knowledge 

and expertise and that this should avoid having to duplicate the collection 

of information. However, the NASUWT refutes any notion that there will be 

less work involved. 

 

Page 74



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
2 

8. Evidence of issues arising from multi-agency working suggests that 

effective multi-agency work is time-consuming, at least at the outset, and 

that key personnel need to be employed in positions to co-ordinate and 

facilitate the process. 

 

9. There can be no assumption that various agencies involved in working 

together will have the capacity to pick up the additional work involved. The 

Welsh Government needs to reflect carefully on the cuts that have been 

visited on services, leaving organisations with fewer resources. In such 

circumstances where there are already increasing barriers on staff, 

additional work is unlikely to be addressed properly and effectively.  

 

10. Further, and notwithstanding the stated intention to move away from 

education services being perceived as the lead service, evidence from 

both England and Scotland indicates that schools and teachers, especially 

those with responsibility for pupils with special or additional educational 

needs, come under extreme pressure to assume lead responsibility for 

managing and co-ordinating work across services, and this has added 

significantly to workload burdens and indeed cost pressures on school 

budgets. 

 
11. Evidence from across the UK also indicates that there are problems 

ensuring that all of the agencies involved attend and contribute to 

meetings. Any failure to attend such meetings places even greater 

demands on schools, school leaders and teachers. 

 

12. It is, therefore, with some concern that the NASUWT notes that the 

responsibility for meeting the needs of children and young people rests 

with the local authority and that there is no commensurate responsibility 

placed on health authorities. In practice, this could result in health 

authorities placing less weight on their responsibility in this area. In 

addition, it may lead to local authorities having to fight for the funding and 

support that children need in order to obtain services. 

 

Page 75



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
3 

13. The NASUWT notes the range of legislation that shaped the current 

statutory framework and acknowledges that the focus for the proposed 

reform is the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child 

(UNCRC) which is now incorporated in the Rights of Children and Young 

Persons (Wales) Measure 2011.  

 

14. In the spirit of the evolutionary rather than revolutionary approach, the 

NASUWT trusts that due regard will continue to be taken of the UNESCO 

Salamanca Statement (1994) as this recognises the diverse needs of 

children, the importance of a continuum of support and services and the 

importance of building an inclusive society and that the provision of the 

Equality Act 2010 will remain an essential key principle within the Welsh 

Government’s work for children and young people.   

 

15. The NASUWT notes the list of improvements that are envisaged through 

the development of an inclusive system that tackles inequality and barriers 

to inclusion, participation and achievement, but is disappointed by the lack 

of ambition in ensuring that the provision and support is adequately 

resourced. Major cultural and organisational change cannot be ‘done on 

the cheap’.  

 

16. Although the merit in replacing the current framework with a simpler and 

more person-centred system appears obvious, the NASUWT maintains 

that it would be a mistake to assume that the system will be simpler to 

establish and cheaper to run or that less support will be required. The 

simplicity must centre on access and operation rather than economics. 

 

17. The NASUWT challenges the expectation that the changes, as proposed, 

will either be cost-neutral or generate net cost savings. The initial costs of 

establishing the new system, providing the requisite training and support, 

and creating specific co-ordinator posts are likely to be high. Simply 

assuming that staff in the various agencies will work together is unrealistic 

and ignores the challenges of multi-agency working.  

 

Page 76



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
4 

18. The NASUWT welcomes the principles that underpin the ability of children 

and young people with AN to exercise and benefit from the Welsh 

Government’s rights-based approach but maintains that subscribing to 

these principles will inevitably, and justifiably, increase costs.  

 

SPECIFIC COMMENTS 

 

19. The NASUWT offers the observations and comments that follow in relation 

to the questions posed on the consultation response form. 

 
Question 1 
 
Do you agree with the proposals in section 2, and that special educational 
needs (SEN) should be replaced by additional needs (AN)? 
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree 

 

 
Supporting comments 
 

The NASUWT agrees, in principle, with the proposal to replace SEN with AN 

as the Union recognises the value and potential benefits of adopting a more 

holistic approach to meeting the needs of children and young people.  

 
However, the NASUWT does not agree that adopting such an approach will 

be cost-neutral or lead to savings being made.  

 
Inevitably, taking a more holistic approach to need means that some needs 

that would have been outside the framework previously will now be included. 

The cost implications should be obvious as schools, local authorities and 

other agencies will need to ensure that they meet the various needs in a 

systematic, coherent and fair way.  

 
However, the NASUWT notes with some concern the suggestion contained in 

paragraph 2.5 that the reforms will lead to a smaller proportion of children and 

young people being regarded as having AN. Simply redefining special needs 

does not mean that those needs excluded disappear. This is the path being 

taken by the Coalition Government in Westminster and one the Welsh 

Government should avoid. 

Page 77



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
5 

 
This concern is heightened when read in conjunction with the description of 

need and the provision required to meet the needs outlined in paragraphs 2.6 

to 2.9, as it appears that the multi-agency approach that is at the heart of the 

reforms will only be available to a very small proportion of children.  

 
The NASUWT reminds the Welsh Government that between 2002/03 and 

2010/11 the number of statements dropped from 16,212 to 13,858 – a 

decrease of 2,359 statements.  

 

The NASUWT trusts that the description of need contained in paragraphs 2.6 

to 2.9 will not lead to a further decline in needs-based access to provision. 

 
Further, it is clear from these descriptions that there is an expectation that 

schools will cater for the vast majority of AN. If that expectation is to be 

realised, teachers and support staff will have to have access to high-quality 

training and professional development, and teachers will need to be provided 

with time, in addition to their statutory entitlement, to plan, prepare and 

assess. 

 

 
Question 2 
 
In section 3 we state that statements of SEN should be replaced with an 
integrated assessment and planning process and that an integrated web-
based Individual Development Plan will be developed to replace or integrate 
not just statements, but the range of individual plans to which children and 
young people might be subject. Do you: 
 
a) agree with the proposal in section 3? 
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree 

 

 
Supporting comments 
 

The NASUWT recognises the merit in replacing the statements of SEN with 

an integrated assessment and planning process through the introduction of 

the Individual Development Plan (IDP) that seeks to provide a coherent 

approach across services to meeting needs. 

 

Page 78



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
6 

However, the NASUWT issues a note of caution in relation to the challenges 

presented by this approach. Evidence from teachers where attempts to 

introduce these approaches in other parts of the UK has raised some serious 

concerns. Feedback from teachers in England and Scotland highlights that 

establishing effective multi-agency working is complex, takes time to develop 

and can increase the workload burdens of professionals.  

  

Given the NASUWT is currently engaged on a national trade dispute of which 

workloads are a key part, the Welsh Government will need to work closely 

with the NASUWT, other school workforce trade unions and other key 

stakeholders to develop the IDP. The IDP and the related procedures will 

need to be trialled and revised if feedback indicates that there are issues in 

relation to the operation of the practice in terms of ease, efficiency and 

effectiveness, and workload. The NASUWT will expect workload impact 

assessments to be an integral part of any trial. 

  

The NASUWT notes the reference in paragraph 3.3 to the IDP being reviewed 

regularly. Although the need for such regular review is understandable, the 

workload and bureaucracy implications will need to be scrutinised carefully 

during the development and trialling phase. It will be important to identify 

challenges and barriers to effective operation through full engagement with 

key stakeholders, including teacher unions, so that possible solutions and/or 

alternative options can be identified. 

  

The NASUWT is concerned that the diagram on page 20 presents an overly 

simplistic view of the planned options that could belie the reality of the 

practices that will be required to ensure that needs are met fully and timely. 

 

The NASUWT maintains that there is a risk that the AN support will be treated 

as a phased approach that becomes increasingly more involved over a period 

of time. For instance, schools might use the current SEN stepped model, only 

moving to the next phase or step if the current actions do not work. Some 

children with an AN that is not SEN-related may require a multi-agency 

approach promptly, especially where there are safety or welfare issues facing 

Page 79



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
7 

the child and/or members of their family. The Union believes that 

consideration should be given to providing examples that demonstrate that 

integrated planning should not necessarily be a stepped approach. 

  

In noting the suggestion in paragraph 3.6, that the Support Co-ordinator will 

normally be the person who is most involved in co-ordinating services for the 

child or young person, the NASUWT is concerned that there will be an 

expectation that schools will provide support coordinators. The reforms must 

not create additional work for teachers and other staff in schools. The 

resource and workload implications for schools and for certain staff within 

schools, most notably special education needs co-ordinators (SENCOs) and 

those with responsibilities for inclusion, will need to be assessed very carefully 

at the trialling stage. 

 

The NASUWT welcomes, in principle, the person-centred methodology 

outlined in paragraph 3.9, but, once again, the Union must stress that the 

approach is likely to be workload and resource intensive.  

 

The NASUWT is clear that the Welsh Government will need to ensure that 

sufficient resources, including the provision of time, is provided to enable the 

proper implementation of the person-centred methodology without creating 

additional workload burdens for teachers and other professionals. 

 

 
b) agree with the extended age range outlined in section 5? 
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree 

 

 
Supporting comments 
 

 
The NASUWT welcomes the proposal to extend the age range to 25 and so 

ensure coherence between services up to the age of 18 and for young people 

with complex needs between the ages of 19 and 25.  

 

However, the Union maintains that the Welsh Government will need to look 

Page 80



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
8 

more closely at how children’s services and adult services can work together 

strategically to ensure the coherence between children’s services and adult 

services.  

 

 
Question 3 
 
Do you agree that the planning tool should be a common web-based one 
across Wales – as described in section 3?  
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree 

 

 
Supporting comments 
 

 
The NASUWT welcomes the proposal in paragraph 3.12 that the IDP should 

link to other systems such as SIMS and recognises that this approach will be 

critical to the success of integrated planning. 

 

 
Question 4 
 
Do you agree that multi-agency working – see section 4 – should be a 
requirement in the delivery of this reform proposal, i.e. that the statutory 
partners of education, health, and social services should be under a legal 
obligation to play an active part in devising and delivering services for learners 
with significant and severe and/or complex needs?    
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree 

 

 
Supporting comments 
 
 

The NASUWT notes that this section focuses on children and young people 

with significant and severe and/or complex needs.  

 

Although the NASUWT acknowledges fully that great care must be given to 

meeting the needs of these children and young people by ensuring that 

agencies work together effectively, it will also be necessary to ensure that the 

needs of children who fall outside the current legal entitlement framework 

benefit from multi-agency working. 

Page 81



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
9 

 

The NASUWT trusts that the emphasis being given to AN rather than SEN 

implies that the Welsh Government is intending agencies to work in this way. 

However, the Union is disappointed to note that the proposals pay little or no 

attention to multi-agency working to meet the needs of children who do not 

have profound or significant needs. The NASUWT is concerned that this 

oversight could lead to the creation of a two-tier rather than a cohesive and 

integrated system for catering for AN.  

 

The NASUWT notes the references in paragraph 4.2 to the establishment by 

local authorities of Support Panels to agree service provision and placements 

and the suggestion that the National Health Service (NHS) should co-operate 

with local authorities on such panels. Feedback from members across the UK 

has highlighted situations where the co-operation of the NHS has proved 

difficult because of competing priorities in terms of funding and provision. If 

the aims set out in the consultation document are to be realised, then the 

Union believes that the Welsh Government will need to ensure, rather than 

suggest, co-operation between health, education and social care. 

 

Of the two options referred to in paragraph 4.5 for co-operation between 

services on regional level, the NASUWT favours the joint strategic planning 

and commissioning process, as the Union believes that this should better 

enable resources to be pooled and targeted to need on a strategic basis. The 

NASUWT doubts that a consortium-wide Support Panel consisting of budget 

holders from each agency could deliver the seamless approach that is 

envisaged. 

 

The NASUWT questions the relevance of the claim made in paragraph 4.7 

that there is a lack of consistency across Wales in the proportion of children 

who are subject to a statement of SEN.  

Page 82



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 

10 

 

Research on SEN and inclusion commissioned by the NASUWT1 highlights 

that SEN and inclusion may be interpreted in different ways and that the SEN 

Code of Practice recognises the need for interpretation according to context. 

Therefore, the key issue is that there should be a relationship between the 

interpretation of SEN and inclusion and the resources allocated to meet 

children’s needs.  

 

As stated elsewhere in this response, the NASUWT recognises that there has 

been a dramatic decrease in the number of statements issued to pupils and 

young people over the last decade. The Union maintains that this has resulted 

from changes to the SEN descriptor and the constantly moving boundaries of 

inclusion. 

 

Regrettably, the NASUWT believes that economics rather than educational 

needs has been the main driver for change, and that any perceived lack of 

consistency stems from inclusion being viewed as the cheaper option.  

 

Where local authorities have embraced inclusion and sought to support most 

pupils with SEN in mainstream schools, the NASUWT is not convinced that 

the school workforce has been provided with access to the requisite 

resources, training and professional development opportunities, or that 

sufficient regard has been taken of the impact that inclusion has had on class 

teaching. The focus of the Welsh Government should be on the nature and 

appropriateness of support for all pupils, including those with statements of 

SEN, rather than on differences in numbers. 

 

The NASUWT shares the view implicit in paragraph 4.10 that a multi-agency 

working approach should become the norm for meeting the needs of all 

children, but is disappointed to note that although there is a recognition of the 

need to draw together the different schemes for multi-agency working, the 

means of ensuring that this approach becomes mainstream practice is not 

                                            
1
 Ellis, S.; Tod, Professor J.; and Graham-Matheson, L. (2008), Special Educational Needs 

and Inclusion: Reflection and Renewal. Birmingham, NASUWT. 

Page 83



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 

11 

explored in any detail. 

 

The NASUWT is gravely concerned that the current economic climate, with 

cuts to public services, could have a profound effect on the ability of the 

Welsh Government to establish multi-agency working without significantly 

increasing the burdens placed on schools and the other agencies that will 

need to collaborate and work co-operatively.  

 

The NASUWT is clear that guidance and legal obligation will not be enough to 

secure the aims of the Welsh Government in terms of meeting the needs of 

children and young people with AN. Without the provision of sufficient 

resources, multi-agency working will falter. 

  

 

 
Question 5 
 
We describe in section 6 the proposal to deal with concerns and 
disagreements in a much more proactive way. Do you agree with what is set 
out in that section? 
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree 

 

 
Supporting comments 
 
 

The NASUWT offers a cautious welcome to the proposal to encourage a 

preventative strategy of mediation and early resolution rather than the current 

adversarial approach. However, the Union questions whether an increased 

focus on mediation will actually decrease the number of cases being taken to  

Tribunal. It is likely that on a number of cases this will simply become another 

step in the process to be exhausted by parents and carers.  

 

The NASUWT maintains that if the resources allocated to meeting needs and 

the provision of appropriate support are inadequate, then there is unlikely to 

be any reduction in the number of cases proceeding to the Tribunal.  

 

 

Page 84



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 

12 

Question 6 
 
Section 7 outlines the revised process of appeal to Tribunal. Do you agree 
with: 
 
a)  the expanded remit for the Tribunal? 
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree 

 

 
Supporting comments 
 

The NASUWT finds merit in this proposal. 
 

 
b) the proposed requirement to go to dispute resolution before a case can be 
taken to Tribunal? 
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree 

 

 
Supporting comments 
 

 
The NASUWT offers a cautious welcome to the proposals, but maintains that 

there needs to be a detailed and objective assessment of the pressures and 

demands that could be placed on schools and other agencies where 

timescales are reduced. 

 

 
Question 7 
 
Section 8 outlines an aspiration for a much more robust Family Partnership 
Service to support families and children/young people. We describe how the 
proposed reforms should reinforce support and active dispute resolution to 
ensure the need to challenge decisions is minimised. Do you agree with the 
general principles outlined? 
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree 

 

 
Supporting comments 
 
 

The NASUWT supports, in principle, the proposals to develop much more 

robust Family Partnership Services to operate on a multi-agency basis. 

However, the Union maintains that the effective operation of any partnership 

Page 85



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 

13 

will depend on the partners having clear roles and responsibilities and being 

resourced and supported adequately to discharge their roles and 

responsibilities. 

  

Likewise, the NASUWT supports, in principle, the proposal to develop a 

charter of rights but is keen to emphasise that the charter must be realistic in 

its construction, with the relevant partners and the various agencies being 

provided with the appropriate level of resourcing to fulfil their responsibilities. 

 

The NASUWT would expect to be involved in the development of the charter 

of rights. 

 

 
Question 8 
 
Section 9 sets out how we propose to build in quality assurance to the 
proposed system. Do you agree with these proposals? 
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree 

 

 
Supporting comments 
 

 
The NASUWT recognises the importance of guidance and the proposals to 

replace the current SEN Code of Practice with an AN Code of Practice that 

will ensure that local authorities, schools and other providers, including the 

NHS, make appropriate provision for children and young people with AN. 

 

However, the Union maintains that the status of the guidance will be critical as 

this will determine whether compliance by the various agencies will either be 

an expectation or a requirement. The NASUWT favours the latter approach, 

but is clear that any requirement in terms of compliance must apply equally to 

the various agencies, including the NHS, rather than being limited to local 

authorities and schools. 

  

The intention to establish a Provision Mapping system is welcomed, but it will 

be vital that this system is developed with the active involvement of all 

Page 86



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 

14 

relevant partners and must include a careful examination of the barriers to 

effective implementation. 

  

The NASUWT notes the reference in paragraph 9.5 to schools maintaining an 

AN quality assurance system. The Union is concerned that this initiative has 

the potential to increase bureaucracy and workload. It is vital that any such 

system is streamlined and impact assessed in terms of both bureaucracy and 

workload for school.  

 

The NASUWT will expect to be consulted fully and engaged in the 

development of the quality assurance system. 

  

The NASUWT notes the reference in paragraph 9.6 to the introduction of an 

AN Co-ordinator (ANCo) post in every school in Wales and the suggestion 

that the post-holders will need to be trained to Master’s level. Although the 

Union welcomes the recognition that an ANCo post-holder should be highly 

skilled, the Welsh Government would need to ensure that such a requirement 

was equality impact assessed in relation to the ability of teachers to access 

the training and development required to study for a Master’s qualification.  

 

Further, the vagueness and lack of clarity surrounding the roles and 

responsibilities associated with the ANCo post is all too apparent, given the 

suggestion that more specific guidance will be provided in the future. Of 

paramount concern to the NASUWT is how the ANCo posts would fit with the 

current SENCO posts.  

 

The NASUWT maintains that all training and development in relation to the 

ANCo posts must take place within directed time and that any requirements in 

this regard would only apply to new post-holders. The Union would not expect 

such requirements to apply to teachers currently working as SENCOs, or to 

those currently working as SENCOs who would have the right to be slotted 

into an ANCo post should the need arise. 

 

The NASUWT would expect to be consulted fully on the implications of 

Page 87



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 

15 

establishing ANCo posts before their introduction.  

 

 

 
Question 9 
 
Do you agree with the proposal to develop Provision Pathways as described 
in section 9 paragraphs 9.8 and 9.9? 
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree 

 

 
Supporting comments 
 
 

In recognising the merit in developing Provision Pathways that will clearly 

define roles, responsibilities and minimum standards for service provision 

relating to each level of need pathways, the NASUWT believes that the focus 

should be on the commitment given in paragraph 9.10 to ensure that 

additional specialist resources to meet the AN of those children and young 

people with the greatest need are allocated fairly, with transparency and 

consistency across Wales. However, the NASUWT is concerned at the lack of 

reference to sufficiency in terms of the additional specialist resources. 

 
Question 10 
 
There is a specific reference to the changes proposed for post-16 specialist 
placements as outlined in section 10 – the transfer of this responsibility to 
local authorities. Do you agree in principle with this change? 
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree 

 

 
Supporting comments 
 
 

The NASUWT welcomes, in principle, the plan to achieve coherence across 

school and post-16 provision by requiring the local authority to take 

responsibility for arranging assessments of education and training needs in 

schools and post-16 provision.  

 

Although the NASUWT notes that the Welsh Government plans to transfer 

Page 88



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 

16 

funding for this work to schools, there will be a need to ensure that there are 

no additional hidden costs involved in undertaking the work involved. The 

Union is clear that an assessment of the funding requirement to enable local 

authorities to meet their obligations and responsibilities must be made before 

the implementation of this proposal.  

 

 
Question 11 
 
This area of policy is one of the most important for the most vulnerable 
children and young people in our society and effective planning, provision of 
assessed needs support and the monitoring of outcomes is one of the most 
important elements. The consultation document covers the main principles of 
the SEN reform. Do you agree that the key elements have been addressed in 
this document? 
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree 

 

 
Supporting comments 
 
 

Although the importance of the area of policy described in this consultation is 

freely acknowledged by the NASUWT, and that many of the key elements of 

catering for the AN of children and young people have been addressed, the 

Union remains concerned by the apparent failure to recognise the funding 

implications that will be vital to the success of the proposals.  

 

The NASUWT does not accept that adopting the policies and practice 

described in the consultation document will be cost-neutral or lead to savings 

being made. Indeed, the NASUWT cautions the Welsh Government against 

proceeding on such a premise, as this could lead to a breakdown in the multi-

agency working and/or a failure to meet the needs of some of the most 

vulnerable children and young people in our society. 

 

 
Question 12 
 
We have asked a number of specific questions. If you have any related issues 
which we have not specifically addressed, please use this space to report 
them: 
 
 

Page 89



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 

17 

Please see the response to question 11 above. 
 

 

 

Chris Keates 

General Secretary  

 

  

Page 90



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
1 

Paper 4 : Annex E 
                                                

 
1. The NASUWT welcomes the opportunity to comment on the proposals to 

reform how school term dates are set for all maintained schools in Wales. 

 

2. The NASUWT is the largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK 

representing teachers and school leaders. 

 

GENERAL COMMENTS 

 

3. In submitting this response, the NASUWT reminds the Welsh Government 

that the contractual school term dates are enshrined in the conditions of 

service for school teachers in england and wales (the Burgundy Book) and 

comprise: the Summer term from 1 May to August 31; the Autumn term 

from September 1 to December 31; and the Spring term from January 1 to 

April 30. 

 

4. Neither the Welsh Government nor local authorities have the power to 

alter the contractual term dates.  

 

5. Further, the School Teachers’ Pay and Conditions Document (STPCD) 

specifies the number of days on which teachers must be available for 

work, the number of days on which they may be required to teach pupils 

and perform other duties, and the number of days on which they may only 

be required to perform other duties.  

 

6. The Welsh Government can, and has, altered the number of days on 

which teachers may only be required to perform other duties, but cannot 

alter, unilaterally, the number of days on which teachers must be available 

for work. 

 

7. In practical terms, the dates on which schools are open for teachers and 

pupils are determined by the holiday patterns that are set by local 

authorities in Wales. For the purposes of this response, the NASUWT is 

willing to recognise these dates as the ‘school term dates’. 

Page 91



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
2 

 

8. The NASUWT has been at the forefront of attempts to establish common 

school term dates for many years and recognises the arguments proffered 

for harmonisation. 

 

9. However, the NASUWT is clear that harmonisation must be based on 

maintaining a three-term year, with half-term breaks of at least a week, a 

break of at least two weeks at the end of the Autumn and Spring terms, 

and a break of at least six weeks at the end of the Summer term. 

 

10. The NASUWT is concerned that the changes to legislation, as proposed, 

could provide either governing bodies, local authorities or the Welsh 

Ministers with powers to alter the three-term year arrangements and seeks 

assurances that safeguards will be built into the future Bill to ensure that 

the three-term year and holiday pattern is maintained. 

 

SPECIFIC COMMENTS 

 

11. The NASUWT offers the observations and comments that follow in relation 

to the questions posed on the consultation response form. 

 

Question 1 – Do you agree with our first proposal that local authorities and 
the governing bodies of voluntary aided and foundation schools in Wales 
should have the responsibility to take all reasonable steps to reach agreement 
regarding term dates for each school year? 
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree  

 

 
Comments 
 

Yes, but only on the basis of maintaining a three-term year with half-term 

breaks of at least a week, a break of at least two weeks at the end of the 

Autumn and Spring terms, and a break of at least six weeks at the end of the 

Summer term. 

 

The NASUWT notes the absence in the proposals of any reference to 

Page 92



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
3 

consultation with the school workforce trade unions in the process of reaching 

agreement on the term dates for each school year.  

 

The NASUWT reminds the Welsh Government that as the holiday pattern is a 

contractual arrangement, the employer, that is the local authority and/or the 

school governing body, would have to reach agreement with the school 

workforce trade unions before implementing any change if the prospect of 

dispute is to be avoided.  

 

 
Question 2 – Do you agree with our second proposal that the Welsh 
Ministers are given the discretion to effectively direct local authorities and 
appropriate governing bodies on the setting of school term dates, should they 
believe that it is necessary to do so?   
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree  

 

 
Comments 
 

Yes, but only on the basis of maintaining a three-term year with half-term 

breaks of at least a week, a break of at least two weeks at the end of the 

autumn and spring terms, and a break of at least six weeks at the end of the 

summer term. 

 

The NASUWT notes the absence in the proposals of any reference to 

consultation with the school workforce trade unions before any decision by the 

Welsh Ministers to exercise control over, or intervene in, the setting of terms 

dates is taken.  

 

The NASUWT reminds the Welsh Government that the holiday pattern is a 

contractual arrangement and that the Welsh Government has no employer 

function in relation to the school workforce. Consequently, any decision by the 

Welsh Ministers to exercise control over an employer in terms of the setting of 

term dates would have to be based on a collective agreement reached with 

the trade unions representing the school workforce. This would require 

consultation and provision would need to be made for the same in the 

legislation. 

Page 93



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
4 

Question 3 – Do you agree with our third proposal that local authorities and 
governing bodies are to demonstrate that they have agreed term dates? 
  

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree  

 

 
Comments 
 
 

The NASUWT is not sure if this proposal is free-standing, or if it is intended to 

complement the first two proposals by prescribing how local authorities and 

governing bodies are to discharge the responsibility outlined in the first 

proposal? 

 

In any event, once local authorities and governing bodies have demonstrated 

that they have agreed term dates across all local authorities, the fourth 

proposal allows Welsh Ministers to use the ‘power to direct’ enshrined in the 

second proposal. 

 

Consequently, the NASUWT has some difficulty in understanding the 

relevance and purpose of the third proposal, other than to prescribe the 

bureaucracy for reaching agreement on the term dates.  

 

 
Question 4 – Do you agree with our view on how the process of local 
authorities and governing bodies demonstrating that they have agreed term 
dates could work? This is set out in paragraphs 4.6–4.9 of the consultation 
document. 
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree  

 

 
Comments 
 

As stated in answer to Question 3, the NASUWT has some difficulty in 

understanding the relevance and purpose of the third proposal, other than to 

prescribe the bureaucracy for reaching agreement on the term dates.  

 

Again, the absence of any reference to the need to consult with the trade 

unions representing the school workforce is noted and the Welsh Government 

is reminded that as the holiday pattern is a contractual arrangement, the 

Page 94



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
5 

employer, that is the local authority and/or the school governing body, would 

be required to reach agreement on any change prior to implementation.  

 
Further, the NASUWT maintains that the true purpose of the third proposal is 

revealed in the fourth proposal, as this seeks to provide Welsh Ministers with 

unfettered powers over school holidays. 

 
Question 5 – Do you agree with our fourth proposal that the Welsh Ministers’ 
power to direct local authorities and relevant governing bodies should not be 
limited to cases where term dates cannot be agreed, and should allow for 
varying term dates to be set for different types of school or local authority 
areas (or parts of local authority areas)? 
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree  

 

 
Comments 
 
 

The NASUWT is concerned that the purpose of the fourth proposal, as 

outlined in paragraph 4.10, is to allow Welsh Ministers to control school term 

dates, regardless of whether or not agreement on harmonisation has been 

reached. 

 

The NASUWT recognises the insidious nature of this proposal, as it attempts 

to provide Welsh Ministers with powers to vary agreed holiday patterns on the 

whims and fancies of government. Indeed, it can be argued that providing a 

power that could be applied in specific areas contradicts the arguments 

proffered for the harmonisation of school term dates.  

 

Providing Welsh Ministers with powers to alter school holiday dates because 

of events such as the Ryder Cup or, possibly, inclement weather or volcanic 

ash, is not acceptable. 

 

Again, the NASUWT reminds the Welsh Government that the holiday pattern 

is a contractual arrangement and that the Welsh Government has no 

employer function in relation to the school workforce. Consequently, any 

decision by the Welsh Ministers to exercise control over an employer in terms 

of the setting of term dates would have to be based on a collective agreement 

Page 95



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
6 

reached with the trade unions representing the school workforce. This would 

require consultation. Provision would need to be made for the same in the 

legislation. 

 

The Welsh Government should not underestimate the potential for dispute 

that this proposal raises. 

 

 
Question 6 – Do you agree with our fifth proposal that the Welsh Ministers 
should be given a regulation-making power to allow them to prescribe the 
detail of how consultation on the use of their powers relating to school term 
dates must be carried out? 
 

Agree  Disagree  Neither agree nor 
disagree  

 

 
Comments 
 

The NASUWT has repeated the need for consultation throughout this 

response and therefore welcomes this proposal. 

 

However, given that the holiday pattern is a contractual arrangement, the 

NASUWT maintains that changes cannot be imposed by a governing body, 

local authorities or the Welsh Government, unless agreement has been 

reached with the school workforce trade unions. 

 

Consequently, the arrangements for consultation must not only be 

meaningful, but must recognise the ‘need to reach agreement’, rather than 

being based on the principle of ‘with a view to reaching agreement’. 

 

 
Question 7 – Equality Impact Assessment.  
 
We would welcome your views on the potential impact of all of our proposals 
on: 
 

a) disability 
b) race 
c) gender and gender reassignment 
d) age 
e) religion and belief and non-belief 
f) sexual orientation 
g) human rights.  

Page 96



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
7 

 
Please enter your views here: 
 

 
The NASUWT believes that the proposals could have a negative impact on 

many of the areas identified, but maintains that the duty to undertake an 

equality impact assessment rests with the Welsh Government.  

 

The NASUWT trusts that the architects of the proposals have considered 

issues such as the ability to celebrate religious holidays, the ability to 

reconcile carer responsibilities with career development, the ability of those 

with disabilities to adapt agreed working arrangements to changing 

circumstances, and the ability to pursue personal interests to enhance well-

being and quality of life.  

 

The NASUWT maintains that the key to addressing equality issues in relation 

to school term dates is through the establishment of effective, fair and 

consistent leave of absence arrangements and suggests that this is reflected 

in the Welsh Government’s equality impact assessment. 

 

 
Question 8 – We have asked a number of specific questions. If you have any 
related issues which we have not specifically addressed, please use this 
space to report them: 
 
Please enter here: 
 
 

The NASUWT notes that the anticipated outcome is that the childcare 

problems experienced by many families in Wales, as a result of school term 

dates not being harmonised, would no longer be an issue. 

 

Although the NASUWT would not disagree with the statement, it would only 

hold true if harmonisation was achieved for all maintained school in Wales. 

Regrettably, as constructed, the proposals would provide Welsh Ministers with 

the power to determine different school holidays in a specific area thus 

negating harmonisation.  

 

Page 97



  

NASUWT 
The largest teachers’ union in Wales and the UK   

Yr undeb athrawon fwyaf yng Nghymru a’r DU 
 
8 

The NASUWT welcomes the recognition by Welsh Ministers that there would 

be a need to consult before the exercise of their powers in relation to school 

term dates but reminds the Welsh Government of the need to reach 

agreement with the trade unions representing the school workforce, 

regardless of the views of other stakeholders, if dispute is to be avoided. 

 

The NASUWT will be prepared to offer further comments on the equality 

impact assessment statement, following receipt of the same from the Welsh 

Government.  

 

 

 

Chris Keates 

General Secretary  

 

Page 98



CYP(4)-23-13 : Paper 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Education (Wales) Bill 
 

September 2013  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 99



 

 

 2 

 

PART 2: THE EDUCATION WORKFORCE  

General principles 

UCAC agrees with the general principles of Part 2 of the Bill. Specifically, we support the Bill’s intention to 

expand the scope of the General Teaching Council to include the wider education workforce, and we are 

now convinced about the appropriateness of including learning support staff. 

However, we would argue that the scope of the new Council should be extended to include teachers and 

learning support staff at independent schools. Students at such schools should have the right to have 

teachers who have attained the same standards of teaching and conduct as their peers at maintained 

schools and further education colleges. Teachers of compulsory school age pupils should all be subject to 

the same regime. 

Youth workers are still cited in the Explanatory Memorandum as a category to be included in the future. 

Although youth workers are not mentioned on the face of the Bill, we feel that it is appropriate to note our 

concerns regarding any intention to include them in the future (i) because they are not part of the education 

workforce per se and (ii) because it will not be easy to define who exactly qualifies as a youth worker, such 

is the diversity of their workplaces, terms and qualifications. 

We support the intention to include work-based learning tutors and learning support staff in the future. 

We oppose the intention to allow Welsh Ministers to draw up the code of conduct and practice, and to 

appoint Council members. We detail this position below. 

Detailed comments 

Clause 2: Education Workforce Council 

We agree with the intention to maintain the current body and to change its name to the Education 

Workforce Council. 

Clause 3: Aims of the Council 

We do not disagree with the aims of the Council; they are entirely commendable.  

Nevertheless, the remainder of the Bill and the provision for future regulations are concerned only with aim 

(b), namely to maintain and improve standards of professional conduct. 

If the Council in its new guise is to have any hope of realising objective (a), namely to contribute to 

improving the standards of teaching and the quality of learning, and if that aim is to have any credibility 

among the workforce, provision must be made for professional development – an issue that is entirely 

absent from the Bill. 

It will be vital for the success of the new Council that it has credibility among the registered workforce. The 

tale of the Institute for Learning (IFL) in England offers up clear lessons on this issue. If the Council 

operates only as a disciplinary and punitive body, without the ability to offer support and professional 

development, it will not obtain the respect of the profession. It could be argued that this has been a problem 

for the current Teaching Council since it lost responsibility for administering Continuous Professional 

Development funds. It is important to identify the link between the credibility of the organisation and the 

respect in which it is held on the one hand, and the willingness to pay fees on the other. 

Clause 4: Functions of the Council 

As noted above, the absence of any reference to professional development in this context is striking, and 

this is a matter of concern to UCAC. 

In particular, we welcome function (b), namely activities to promote careers in registrable professions, and 

the fact that this function will be carried out by a Welsh body that understands the needs and context of 

Evidence from UCAC on the Education (Wales) Bill 

The National Union of Welsh Teachers (UCAC) welcomes this opportunity to respond to the Children and 

Young People Committee’s inquiry into the general principles of the Education (Wales) Bill.  

UCAC is a labour union that represents 5,000 teachers, school leaders and further and higher education 

lecturers in all parts of Wales. 

Page 100



 

 

 3 

Wales. We have concerns, however, regarding how small the intended budget is for this function: just 

£100,000 (Explanatory Memorandum, paragraph 303). 

Clause 7: Provision of advice by the Council 

7(2)(a): We are not clear about the meaning or intent of this clause. What kind of advice is expected to be 

provided on this issue? 

7(4), 7(5) and 7(7): We oppose these provisions. UCAC believes that the discretion of the Council should 

be trusted in respect of when and to whom advice should be provided. These clauses suggest either a lack 

of trust or a bid for control beyond what is appropriate for an independent body. In addition, these 

provisions will create a disproportionate amount of administrative work for Council and Government staff 

alike. 

Clause 11: Appeals against refusal of registration 

11(1): Although we recognise that this clause reflects current arrangements, we feel that it is appropriate 

that there should be a right to appeal first against a registration decision to an appeals panel within the 

Council, before having to resort to the High Court. This would reflect existing arrangements in respect of 

appeals regarding induction decisions. 

Clause 12: Registration fees 

12(1): We note the information and the detailed consideration given in the schedule to the Explanatory 

Memorandum, and the intention to consult on the fee system in due course. We therefore do not elaborate 

on this topic here. 

However, we feel that we must make one observation. Regarding the intention to ensure that the Council is 

financially self-sufficient, we draw the Committee’s attention to the extremely high figures noted in 

paragraph 307 of the Explanatory Memorandum in relation to the cost of hearings. We understand that 

cases of this kind involve legal costs, but we hold the very firm view that these costs could (and should) be 

reduced. If the number of cases doubles amid a doubling of the number of registered individuals, these 

levels of expenditure will not be sustainable. In addition, we ask whether the current staffing and office 

levels of the Council are expected to be sufficient, or whether they will need to be expanded. 

12(2)(b): UCAC believes that it could be noted on the face of the Bill who will decide on the registration 

fees, and that this issue does not need to be left to regulations. We would not foresee a need to change the 

specified system; on the contrary, establishing this principle in legislation would provide a sense of 

certainty and robustness. We would favour a system where the Council would make recommendations 

based on a business case, and the Welsh Ministers would make a final decision.   

Clause 23: Appraisal of registered persons 

23(5) This clause is a cause for concern. Should it refer to powers that already exist in relation to teachers’ 

pay (in the School Teachers' Pay and Conditions Document), that would be acceptable. There are also 

arrangements that allow an evaluation of the work of a further education lecturer to be used to make a 

decision on pay (namely, arrangements for “crossing the threshold” from the main scale to the upper scale). 

However, UCAC would vehemently oppose any extension of performance-related pay for teachers, 

lecturers, and any other cohort of the education workforce. We are concerned that the clause in question, 

and the lack of discussion in the Explanatory Memorandum, leaves open that possibility – even if it is 

subject to a consultation on the regulations.  

UCAC’s firm view is that it is not possible to establish a performance-related pay system that is transparent 

and fair to teachers due to the nature of the job. We remind the Committee of the viewpoint expressed by 

the former Minister for education, Leighton Andrews: 

“I have grave concerns over introducing a system whereby a teacher’s potential pay rise is based 

upon their perceived performance compared with other teachers in the same school. This could lead 

to dissatisfaction and a reduction in cooperation between colleagues, as well as introducing 

unnecessary new problems for head teachersC I consider it essential to recruit the highest possible 

calibre of entrant into the teaching profession in Wales. Those who decide to enter and remain in 

the teaching profession in preference to other occupations are unlikely to do so based only on 

relative pay. However, I suspect that this will not be helped by the removal of pay spine points with 

pay rises based purely on annual performance relative to other teachers within the same school.” 

 

Page 101



 

 

 4 

Extract from Leighton Andrews’s letter (MB LA 0788 12) 

to the Chair of the School Teachers’ Review Body, 20 February, 2013 

 

Clause 24: Code of conduct and practice 

24(1): We strongly oppose this clause, which gives responsibility for drawing up the code of conduct and 

practice to the Welsh Ministers. The Teaching Council has shouldered this responsibility in the past, and 

we can see no argument for transferring the responsibility now to the Welsh Ministers. The Council will be 

representing the education workforce and acting on its behalf; it will have the expertise, the experience and 

peer credibility necessary to carry out this function. 

Clause 26: Disciplinary functions 

26(1): UCAC has long-term experience of working on disciplinary matters, including in the context of 

inquiries and hearings before the Teaching Council. We have concerns about the ambiguous wording of the 

current legislation and regulations, and these concerns remain apparent in the context of the Education Bill.  

Schools, and governing bodies specifically, have a duty to deal with disciplinary issues within their own 

systems. Indeed, the Welsh Government published new guidelines in this area in January (Disciplinary and 

dismissal procedures for school staff – revised guidance for governing bodies; Welsh Government circular, 

No. 002/2013). Further education colleges have their own disciplinary and dismissal policies. 

Only the most serious cases should reach the Council. If an issue has been investigated locally by the 

governing body, and the staff member has been exonerated, or a warning has been administered, there is 

no need for the issue to be referred to the Council. 

The same principles apply in relation to cases of professional incompetence and capability processes. 

The only reasons for taking a case forward to the Council would be:  

(i) if it was a serious case of professional misconduct/incompetence 

(ii) if there was evidence of anomalies relating to the administration of disciplinary/capability processes 

If every case of this kind came before the Council, its workload would be completely unsustainable. In 

addition, any local processes would be a waste of time, energy and resources. 

And yet, at present, the Council has a duty to investigate any case that is referred to it, and we know that 

this certainly includes cases that have been settled locally in an entirely acceptable way. 

It is true to say that there is confusion about these issues among parents, governing bodies and even local 

authority staff. This Bill provides an opportunity to establish and communicate clear principles. UCAC would 

be very happy to provide further evidence about this specific issue, if that would be of any use to the 

Committee. 

26(3)(b)(ii): We welcome this provision greatly. There is no point resorting to an expensive public hearing 

when a staff member has agreed that he or she does not want to remain registered following 

capability/disciplinary processes. This is a provision that will avert unnecessary stress for education 

workforce staff, and will constitute wiser use of Council resources. 

General point: we notice that there are no provisions in this section for private/in camera hearings. 

Provisions of this kind are pivotal, especially in cases that involve staff with health problems, including 

mental health problems, where the stress of public hearings could have a detrimental impact on their 

health. Another category where hearings of this kind would be integral is when the evidence submitted 

could allow the public to identify a specific pupil, or specific pupils, while the details of the case are being 

presented, even though the pupil/s is/are not named. Is it anticipated that these provisions will be included 

in the regulations? 

Clause 29: Conditional registration orders 

29(4)(b): We are not convinced that an order “without limit of time” is justified. Despite our broad-ranging 

experience in this area, we have not managed to identify one example of a situation where that would be 

appropriate. Would the Committee or the Minister be able to provide an example? 

Clause 30: Suspension orders 

30(5)(b): As stated above, we are not convinced that an order “without limit of time” is justified.  

Page 102



 

 

 5 

Clause 32: Appeals against disciplinary orders 

32(1): Although we recognise that this clause reflects current arrangements, we feel that that it is 

appropriate that there should be a right to appeal first against a decision regarding a disciplinary order to 

an appeals panel within the Council, before having to resort to the High Court. 

Clauses 36, 37 and 38: 

36(2) and 37(2): These clauses are linked to the points raised above in relation to Clause 26 – disciplinary 

functions, and the need to formalise the role of local processes.  

This is a particular problem in relation to agencies. At present, unlike schools and further education 

colleges, they are not required to implement disciplinary or capability processes. This means that issues 

are referred directly to the Council, including issues that would usually have been investigated and settled 

locally. This therefore increases the Council’s workload. It also has negative implications for teachers, 

because agencies can stop using their services suddenly, leaving them without work or pay for an extended 

period, and with no opportunity to clear their names until the Council’s processes are implemented, which 

can happen over a prolonged period. 

Schedule 1 

Clause 3: Membership 

3(2): We oppose the clause that allows Welsh Ministers to appoint Council members. This is a significant 

negative change in the Bill. At present, 12 members are elected from the workforce, and by the workforce; 

nine are appointed by the National Assembly for Wales (not by the Welsh Ministers) on the basis of 

nominations from relevant bodies; and four are appointed directly by the National Assembly (not by the 

Welsh Ministers). 

The Council is an independent body that works in the name of, and on behalf of, the education workforce. It 

is funded by the fees that are paid by the workforce. The notion that the Welsh Ministers would appoint its 

members is illogical and unwise. It is vital for the Council’s credibility that any perception of political 

influence on the appointments process is avoided; also, the workforce needs to feel a sense of ownership 

for the Council.  

3(3)(b): We do not agree that it should be possible to appoint members who have “recently been” registered 

persons; in principle, Council members should be registered persons in order to ensure a live and current 

understanding of the education sector. By the end of their term on the Council, someone who had “recently 

been” a registered person may have been out of the education workforce for more than five years. That is 

not acceptable. 

PART 3: PERSONS WITH LEARNING DIFFICULTIES 

General principles 

We agree with the general principles of this section of the Bill in terms of (i) Independent schools providing 

special education; and (ii) Post-16 education and training. 

Detailed observations 

Regarding post-16 education and training, we would want to be sure that the transfer of responsibilities to 

local authorities would go hand in hand with the transfer of sufficient resources to carry out responsibilities 

effectively.  

We know that the expertise needed to undertake this work resides within the local authorities, but we 

suspect that not enough people will possess this expertise to cope with the new requirements. We foresee 

that an amount matching what Careers Wales received for the same work would be necessary. Questions 

arise around how this amount would be shared among the 22 authorities, and around whether there would 

be a role for the regional consortia. 

PART 4: MISCELLANEOUS PROVISION 

General principles 

We agree with the general principles of this section of the Bill regarding (i) Term and holiday dates and 

times of school sessions (ii) Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Education and Training in Wales. 

Page 103



 

 

 6 

Detailed observations 

In terms of term and holiday dates, we agree with the logic propounded in the Explanatory Memorandum 

regarding the costs for families. We would like to add that there are also valid educational reasons for 

standardisation. In the wake of the 14-19 Learning Pathways and the Learning and Skills (Wales) Measure 

2009, collaboration between educational institutions is increasingly common, both in relation to schools and 

further education colleges. This collaboration often happens on a cross-boundary basis, particularly in the 

Welsh-medium sector, where the nearest suitable partner is often in another local authority. Inconsistency 

in respect of term dates makes this collaboration significantly more difficult, and we know of one example of 

collaboration where three weeks of joint lessons were lost because the terms dates of neighbouring 

authorities were not aligned. 

We emphasise that an adequate educational reason will be required if the Minister wishes to make an 

exception to the standardised dates; however, we note that a consultation will have to be undertaken in a 

case of this kind, and we accept that that offers protection. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 104



 

 

 7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 105



 

 

 8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 106



 

Education (Wales) Bill 
2013 
NAfW Children and 
Young People Committee  
 

September 2013 

 

CYP(4)-23-13 : Paper 6 
National Assembly for Wales 

Children and Young People Committee 
Education (Wales) Bill : Stage 1 
Response from : Welsh Local Government Association 

Agenda Item 4

Page 107



Education (Wales) Bill 2013 
Welsh Local Government Association – September 2013  

 

 

2 

INTRODUCTION 

 

1. The Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) represents the 22 local authorities in 

Wales, and the three national park authorities and the three fire and rescue 

authorities.   

 

2. It seeks to provide representation to local authorities within an emerging policy 

framework that satisfies the key priorities of our members and delivers a broad range 

of services that add value to Welsh Local Government and the communities they 

serve.  

 

3. The WLGA is guided by a number of key principles which underpin the work of the 

association and inform this response to the Education (Wales) Bill 2013. The WLGA 

believes that decisions about services should be taken as close point of delivery as 

possible and that the people and communities using those services should be as 

engaged as possible in their delivery.  It is also our belief that local services should be 

provided within a democratic framework of local accountability.   

 

4. The WLGA recognises that it is the role of the Welsh Government to set the strategic 

framework and policy direction for services at a national level and that it is the role of 

local government to deliver those services taking account of the local circumstances 

and pressures.  It is also recognised that services must be provided within a 

proportionate but effective regulatory framework to ensure that public resources are 

used appropriately and that services are delivered effectively and efficiently.  

 

5. The WLGA has consistently argued for an un-hypothecated revenue support grant 

(RSG) as the best way of funding local government and any new responsibilities or 

additional burdens placed on local government should be fully costed and 

appropriately funded.   

 

6. The WLGA recognises that some policy initiatives or strategies need to have funding 

attached to them for specific periods of time to make sure that they become 

embedded and are delivered as intended.  For this reason, the WLGA, by exception, 

supports the use of specific grants or the ring fencing of revenue funding for specified 

purposes on the understanding that funding will eventually return to the RSG. 
 

Page 108



 

7. The WLGA welcomes the opportunity to give evidence to the National Assembly for 

Wales Children and Young People Committee on the proposed Education (Wales) Bill 

2013. The Bill covers proposes changes to a number of key areas for education in 

Wales and this evidence covers each of those areas in turn.  

 

Education Workforce 

 

8. The Bill proposes radical change to the current arrangement for workforce planning, 

training and development for the education workforce in Wales. The WLGA 

acknowledges that over the last ten years there has been a rapid change in the make-

up of the wider education workforce in Wales and this means that reform is needed in 

the way that the workforce is supported. The changes in the workforce have been 

largely due to the introduction of initiatives such as the Foundation Phase, which have 

resulted in support staff, other than teachers having a significant input into the 

education of children and young people. Changes to the curriculum for 14 – 19 year 

olds has also meant an increase in collaboration between educational institutions 

which has highlighted the differences in the registration and regulation of the staff 

concerned. The National Improving Schools Plan from Welsh Government and 

recommendations in The Future Delivery of Education Service in Wales (the Hill 

Review) have set ambitious targets for schools and local authorities and in order to 

achieve these aspirations to whole system will need to work coherently. 

 

9. The WLGA have responded on two previous occasions to Welsh Government on the 

issue of widening the registration of the education workforce and the associated 

changes that would be required to the GTCW (General Teaching Council for Wales). A 

number of concerns were raised through these consultations and although the Bill now 

sets out a clear direction of travel these concerns are still relevant and articulated 

below. 

 

10. The WLGA firmly believe that the whole of the education system needs to work 

together in order to improve standards for all learners in Wales. It is the case, 

however, that the public sector is facing unprecedented financial pressures which is 

acknowledged in the cost analysis contained within the Explanatory Memorandum for 

the Bill. It is welcomed that the preferred option for the creation of the Education 

Workforce Council is to enhance the existing function of the GTCW. There are still, 

however, concerns about the lack of detailed costings for such an option, given that 

the expansion from the current remit of the GTCW would be extensive, not only in 

terms of costs but also in terms of skills. The costs and benefit analysis states that the 

Page 109



Education (Wales) Bill 2013 
Welsh Local Government Association – September 2013  

 

 

4 

Council will be self-funded from registration fees, for the core functions. It is not clear 

however, what these core functions would be as it does not seem to cover costs 

associated with disciplinary work, an estimated £500,000 per year. In addition it is not 

clear whether registration fees would also cover the extended role of the Council in 

setting standards or training. While the rest of the public sector is looking to make 

savings and efficiencies, the Education Workforce Council would be expanding it’s role, 

remit and resources.  

 

11. There is also an issue in relation to the application of the fees system to fund the 

Council. At present there are arrangements in place, as part of teachers pay and 

conditions, which cover a proportion of the costs for teachers registering with the 

GTCW. As teachers pay and conditions is not a devolved function it is not within the 

scope of this legislation to amend these conditions in respect of registration fees. 

Therefore, the situation could arise where a teaching assistant and a teacher working 

in the same classroom would not have parity in terms of payment of their fees to the 

Education Workforce Council. It is understood that the Welsh Government will 

continue to consult on this issue and work with local government, as the employer, to 

resolve this issue.  

 

12. The Bill outlines an extensive remit for the Education Workforce Council and there are 

some concerns that the Council may duplicate work that is undertaken elsewhere. For 

example, the ETS (the Education and Training Standards Committee) accredits training 

within the youth sector, and many aspects for the training and induction of the wider 

education workforce are part of national and regional training programmes that are 

already in place. It is essential that within the current financial climate that duplication 

of provision is avoided. In addition, there must be clear and transparent quality 

assurance mechanisms in place to ensure that where the Council does become 

involved with training it is of high quality, relevant and consistent with recognised 

standards. It is also essential that the Council have the necessary specialist expertise 

to develop codes of conduct and practice for distinct sections of the workforce. It is 

understood that there are a range of skills and behaviours that will be common across 

the workforce however, previous attempts to develop a generic code of practice for 

large, diverse workforces have not been successful.  

 

13. Although there are concerns about some aspects of the Bill in relation to the education 

workforce, the stated aims of the legislation to bring greater coherence and to 

recognise the contribution of the whole education workforce are supported. There is 

extensive evidence, contained in the Hill Review and elsewhere, that one of the key 

Page 110



 

factors in improving education outcomes for children and young people is the quality 

of teachers and other education professionals. Registration and regulation of the 

workforce is one route to ensure a high standard of professionalism within the 

education workforce, but should be viewed in the context of wider change and should 

be achieved in a way that offers value for money. 

 

Reform of the registration and approval of independent schools in respect to 

special educational needs 

 

14. The WLGA and local authorities are committed to providing high quality education 

services for all children and young people, including those with additional educational 

needs. This section of the Bill aims to reform the way that independent schools 

register to provide for learners with special educational needs in order to reduce 

duplication and bureaucracy and to increase transparency. The WLGA supports these 

aims. 

 

15. The Bill proposes that there is a single system for the registration of independent 

schools in relation to provision for SEN. The reforms proposed will allow for all 

independent schools who register to provide for children and young people with a 

special educational need to be inspected and monitored by Estyn; this approach is 

supported by the WLGA. This will allow local authorities, learners and parents and 

carers to have a greater understanding of the type and quality of provision available 

for those learners with special educational needs, enabling better planning and 

decision making.  

 

Responsibility for assessing the need for and arranging specialist post-16 

education for learners with learning difficulties and/or disabilities 

 

16. The WLGA has stated that education is the number one priority for local authorities in 

Wales and this commitment includes ensuring that children and young people with 

special educational needs, and additional learning needs, received high quality 

education which is appropriate for their needs.  

 

17. Under the current arrangements local authorities work with children and young people 

of compulsory school age to assess the nature of any special educational need and 

deliver or commission services which appropriately meets those needs. There is 

guidance and regulation in place which provides a framework for the provision and 

there is a system of dispute resolution should parents, or carers, feel that the 

Page 111



Education (Wales) Bill 2013 
Welsh Local Government Association – September 2013  

 

 

6 

provision does not meet the needs of the child or young person or that their needs 

have not accurately been assessed. This includes the right for parents and carers to 

appeal to the Special Educational Needs Tribunal for Wales (SENTW). Where possible 

children and young people are supported within a mainstream educational setting, 

however, where this is not appropriate they may attend a specialist setting or 

residential setting.  

 

18. Provision, and funding, for post-16 learners with special education needs is currently 

managed by the Welsh Government, who contract Careers Wales for the assessment 

side of the work. The proposal within the Bill is to pass the responsibility for the 

assessment of post-16 pupils with a special educational need to the local authority, 

along with a proportion of the funding for provision. It is recognised that having 

coherence between the systems for pre and post-16 assessment is beneficial however, 

there are serious concerns about the affordability of these proposals for local 

government.  

 

19. The concerns about funding this element of the Bill relate to the costs of the initial 

assessment, the cost of provision and the pressures on the current budgets of the 

further education sector who are expected to make provision for many of the young 

people. Local authorities currently assess children and young people of compulsory 

school age. There are already considerable pressures within local authorities in terms 

of assessing the needs of learners with special educational needs pre-16. The addition 

of post-16 assessments without there being additional resource may put a strain on 

the capacity of some local authorities to perform assessments. There are clear 

advantages to having assessments for all learners, pre and post-16, performed within 

one organisation as this will enable smooth and managed transition and also staff 

undertaking the assessment will be familiar with the needs of the learner. There does 

however, need to be a realistic assessment of the additional cost for the local authority 

in performing this function. 

 

20. In addition there is a concern about the affordability of the provision for post-16 

learners with special educational needs. Where possible learners are provided for 

within mainstream institutions, including 6th forms or FEIs (further education 

institutions). There are however, a proportion of learners who cannot be provided for 

within these settings and for whom more specialist provision is appropriate. Provision 

in specialist settings can be costly and at present those costs are managed nationally 

by Welsh Government. The proposal in the Bill is to shift both the responsibility and 

the costs on to local authorities. This approach does have advantages in that the costs 

Page 112



 

can be managed locally by seeking the most appropriate setting for the young person 

that also offers good value for money. There can also be cost sharing between social 

services and education budgets where care is also included in the provision. There is 

however a concern that the actual cost of provision will not necessarily be evenly 

spread across all local authorities whilst the funding through the revenue support 

grant (RSG) will be evenly distributed across all 22 local authorities. In addition there 

is a concern that if costs escalate it will put pressure on local authority budgets.  

 

21. For many young people the most appropriate setting will be within a FEI. As will all 

publically funding bodies they are also facing funding pressures. The proposals in the 

Bill will require local authorities and FEIs to work together to manage the provision 

and costs of placing post-16 learners. There are many examples of where local 

authorities and the FE sector work well together to provide for all learners, including 

those with special educational needs. As funding pressures increase however, there is 

a concern that FE will not have sufficient funding to manage provision for all learners 

who may be appropriately educated at a FEI. This could then result in the local 

authority picking up additional costs for provision within an alternative setting which 

may be more costly.  

 

22. In principle therefore, there are many advantages to local authorities assessing and 

providing for post-16 learners with special educational needs. This approach could 

result in a seamless system for learners. The WLGA however, does have serious 

concerns about the cost implications of this proposal and would like to see further 

work to explore how this proposal could be realistically funded given the existing 

funding pressures that local authorities are already facing.   

 

School Term Dates 

 

23. The Bill proposes to give powers to Welsh Ministers to direct local authorities to 

implement certain, specified dates for school terms, where an agreement on 

standardised terms dates is not reached. This section of the legislation is welcomed by 

the WLGA.  

 

24. Local authorities acknowledge that the current system for determining school dates 

can result in the situation where neighbouring local authorities or regions do not have 

the coterminous term dates and this can cause difficulties for some families. The 

proposed legislation outlines changes to the current system which includes giving local 

authorities, along with foundation and voluntary aided schools, the opportunity to set 

Page 113



Education (Wales) Bill 2013 
Welsh Local Government Association – September 2013  

 

 

8 

dates which are coterminous in the first instance. The WLGA support this approach 

and would be keen to work in partnership with local authorities and Welsh 

Government colleagues in order to reach an agreement on term dates. If this is not 

achieved then this Bill will give Welsh Ministers the power to direct local authorities 

and the governing bodies of voluntary aided and foundation schools to adhere to 

prescribed term dates as determined by the Minister.  

 

25. There are a number of issues which influence the setting of term dates and these can 

be complex. They include adhering to religious holidays and also the dates of 

prominent culture events such as the Royal Welsh Show. The WLGA supports the 

proposal in the legislation to allow for some variation in agreed term dates should 

extraordinary situations arise. Such flexibility will be of benefit to children and young 

people and is welcomed by local government.  

 

Conclusion 

 

26. The WLGA supports many of the principles that underpin this legislation. There are a 

few areas of concern with relation to the registration of the education workforce which 

are largely to do with the affordability and detail of the role and remit of the proposed 

Education Workforce Council. There are also concerns with the affordability for local 

government of aspects of assessing post-16 learners with disabilities and/or learning 

disabilities. It is essential that should this legislation be passed that there is detailed 

discussion with Welsh Government as to how these proposals can be implemented in a 

cost effective manner.  

 

 

 

For further information please contact: 

 

Daisy Seabourne 

Daisy.seabourne@wlga.gov.uk  
 

Page 114


	Agenda
	2 Education (Wales) Bill: Stage 1 - Evidence session UNISON and GMB
	CYP(4)-23-13 : Paper 1 - UNISON Cymru
	CYP(4)-23-13 : Paper 2 - GMB

	3 Education (Wales) Bill: Stage 1 - Evidence session NUT, NASUWT and UCAC
	CYP(4)-23-13 : Paper 4 - NASUWT
	CYP(4)-23-13 : Paper 5 - UCAC

	4 Education (Wales) Bill: Stage 1 - Evidence Session ADEW and WLGA

